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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE
OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest
only after due and careful consideration. The greater risk
profile and other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a
market more suited to professional and other sophisticated
investors.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded
on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility
than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance
is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities
traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors collectively and individually
accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance
with GEM Listing Rules for the purpose of giving information with
regard to the company. The directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief
the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in
all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are
no other matters the omission of which would make any statement
herein or this report misleading.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

ESEREREEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lau Chun Fat, George, aged 81, was appointed as an
Executive Director on 30 June 2014 and Chairman on 25 February
2019. He obtained a higher certificate in Mechanical Engineering
from Hong Kong Polytechnic and a diploma in Plastic Technology
from Suddeutsche Kunstsoff-Zentrum, West Germany. He had
worked in multinational chemical companies for 30 years in sales,
marketing and management positions.

Ms. Chan Hiu Kwan, aged 39, is the Company Secretary, was
appointed as an Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
on 25 February 2019 of the Company. She joined the Group in
May 2008. She is a Certified Public Accountant of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Lee Chung Mong, John, aged 65, is an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Group. He joined the Group in April 2008.
He obtained Ph.D. Degree in Computer Science from the University
of Minnesota, USA in 1989. In the same year, he was appointed
as an Associate, Research Staff in the Institute of Systems Science
at National University of Singapore. In 1999, he was awarded
a Teaching Excellence Appreciation Award by the Dean of the
School of Engineering of The Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology and was elevated as a Senior Member of the Institute
of Electrical and Electronics Engineers. He is now the chairman and
chief executive officer of Asia Vision Technology Ltd.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Mr. Tam Wing Kin, aged 59, is an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Group. He joined the Group in April 2008. He is a
member of the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants,
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He is also a Certified
Public Accountant (Practising). Previously, he had worked in one
of the leading international accountancy firms and several listed
companies in Hong Kong. He has over 20 years of experience in
accounting field.

Mr. Fung Chan Man, Alex, aged 62, is an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Group. He joined the Group in April
2008. He was an Independent Non-executive Director of i-Control
Holdings Limited until 11 January 2022, a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He obtained a BSc (Hons)
degree in Electrical Engineering from University of Bath (UK) in
1986 and subsequently a MBA degree from Heriot Watt University
(UK). He has over 15 years working experience in financial market
and corporate finance activities in both Hong Kong and China.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEmRES

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 (the “Year"), loss attributable
to owners of the Company was approximately HK$1,196,000.
Comparing to loss attributable to owners of the Company for
year ended 30 June 2023 of approximately HK$1,482,000, the
decrease in loss attributable to the owners of the Company was
mainly attributable to (i) increase in gross profit to approximately
HK$14,922,000 (2023: HK$14,853,000); (ii) increase in other
income to approximately HK$2,167,000 (2023: HK$1,994,000);
and (iii) decrease in administrative expenses to HK$16,953,000
(2023: HK$18,358,000); partially set off by impairment losses
under expected credit losses model approximately HK$1,079,000
(2023: reversal of impairment losses HK$547,000).

Revenue and Gross Profit

For the Year, the Group's total revenue and gross profit were
approximately HK$58,541,000 and HK$14,922,000 respectively, as
comparing to approximately HK71,914,000 and HK$14,853,000
respectively for the year ended 30 June 2023.

Details of the decrease in total revenue and increase in gross profit
are discussed below:
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Manufacturing and trading of high-end swimwear and
garment products (“Swimwear and garment segment”)

The revenue generated from Swimwear and garment segment
for the Year was approximately HK$32,312,000 (2023:
HK$39,812,000). Gross profit for the Year was approximately
HK$12,992,000 (2023: HK$12,736,000). Gross profit ratio for
the Year was 40.20% (2023: 31.99%). Increase in gross profit
for the Year was mainly due to increase in higher profit margin
order for swimwear and garment segment, as compared with the
corresponding period in 2023.

E-commerce and on-line shopping related services
(“E-Commerce and on-line shopping related segment”)

The E-commerce and on-line shopping related segment mainly
represents (i) buying, refurbishing and selling second hand mobile
phones through online platforms, trading of cameras and electronic
parts and (ii) acting as agents (“Agency Services”) for suppliers
in arranging and providing value added services on facilitating
the sale of second hand mobile phones to buyers through online
shopping platforms. The revenue generated from E-Commerce and
on-line shopping related segment for the Year was approximately
HK$25,092,000 (2023: HK$30,822,000). Gross profit for the Year
was approximately HK$793,000 (2023: HK$837,000). Gross profit
ratio for the Year was 3.16% (2023: 2.72%). The decrease in
revenue was mainly due to weaker sales pricing as a result of the
strong US dollar.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEmRES

Money lending business (“Money lending segment”)

The revenue generated from Money lending segment for the
Year was approximately HK$1,137,000 (2023: HK$1,280,000).
Gross profit for the Year was approximately HK$ 1,137,000 (2023:
HK$1,280,000). Gross profit ratio for the Year was 100% (2023:
100%).

OPERATIONS

During the Year, the Group maintained an effective cost measures
in controlling the cost structure of its operations. Besides, the
Group will be extremely prudent in the expansion of its operations
in an organic manner. We also believe that it is of the Group’s best
interest to explore different sources of income while still maintains
an effective and efficient overhead structure for our supporting
departments in each of the business segments under operation.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 30 June 2024, the Group had total assets of approximately
HK$60,827,000 (2023: HK$64,499,000). As at 30 June 2024,
the Group had bank balances and cash of approximately
HK$17,038,000 (2023: HK$13,239,000). The Group has a current
ratio of approximately 2.00 comparing to that of 1.97 as at 30 June
2023. As at 30 June 2024, the Group's gearing ratio of 40% (2023:
56%) was calculated as net debts divided by total equity. Net debts
is calculated as total liabilities (including current and non-current
liabilities as shown in the consolidated statement of financial
position) less cash and cash equivalents. Total equity represents the
equity as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Our Group's financial condition, results of operations and business
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties
directly or indirectly pertaining to our Group’s businesses. The
following are the key risks and uncertainties identified by our
Group. There may be other risks and uncertainties in addition to
those shown below which are not known to our Group or which
may not be material now but could be material in the future:

1. Reliance on a small number of key suppliers

The Group’s five largest suppliers, which accounted for 88%
(2023: 85%) of the Group’s total purchases, There is no
assurance that these major suppliers shall continue to provide
the goods to us at price acceptable to our Group. In the
event that our Group were unable to retain these suppliers,
or procure replacement suppliers, our business, results of
operations, profitability and liquidity might be adversely
affected. However, the Group has established strong business
relationship with these major suppliers.

2. Reliance on a small number of key customers

The Group’s five largest customers, which accounted for
77% (2023: 90%) of the Group's total revenue. There is no
assurance that major customers will continue to conduct
business with us. In the event that major customers materially
reduce their purchase orders with the Group or cease to
conduct business with the Group and the Group fails to obtain
a comparable level of purchase orders from new customers,
the Group's business, result of operations and financial
condition may be adversely affected. Customer satisfaction
with our products has a profound effects on our profitability.
To provide good quality services to our customers, our Group is
in constant communication with our customers and potential
customers to uncover and create customer needs and help
customers make informed decision.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEmRES

Foreign exchange rate risk

The Group business transactions, assets and liabilities are
mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and
United States dollars, of which the Group'’s exposure to foreign
exchange risk is considered as limited. During the Year, the
Group did not carry out any hedging activity against foreign
currency risk. Any substantial exchange rate fluctuation of
foreign currencies against Renminbi may have a financial
impact on the Group. The Group will continue to monitor its
foreign exchange position and, if necessary, utilise hedging
tools, if available, to manage its foreign currency exposure.

Investment risk

Investment risk can be defined as the likelihood of occurrence
of losses relative to the expected return on any particular
investment. Key concern of investment framework will be
balancing risk and return across different investments, and
thus risk assessment is a core aspect of the investment decision
process. Proper authorisation system has been set up and
detailed analysis will be made before approving investments.
Regular updates on the progress of the investments of our
Group would be submitted to the Board of Directors.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at 30 June 2024, issued and fully paid share capital of the
Company included (a) 801,535,615 (2023: 792,745,615) ordinary
shares of HK$0.10 each; (b) 1,083,333,333 convertible non-
voting preference shares (“CPS") (2023: 1,083,333,333) of
HK$0.15 each; and (c) 166,693,518 (2023: 182,092,500) series
B convertible non-voting preference shares (“Series B CPS"”) of
HK$0.16 each. Pursuant to the terms of the CPS and Series B CPS,
the conversion prices of the outstanding CPS and Series B CPS were
adjusted from HK$1.2 and HK$0.3 per share to HK$1.121 and
HK$0.2803 per share respectively as a result of the rights issue. The
said adjustment took effect on 19 August 2020, being the day next
following the Record Date.

HEDGING POLICY

The Group does not have any material exposure to fluctuations in
exchange or interest rates. Therefore, no hedging measures have
been taken at present.

CREDIT POLICY

The credit terms given to customers are generally based on the
financial strengths of individual customers. The maximum credit
term granted to customers are up to 180 days.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 30 June 2024, the Group had 95 full time employees
compared with that of 88 in the previous financial year. The
employee benefits expenses were approximately HK$13,367,000
(2023: HK$14,648,000). The Group offers a comprehensive
remuneration package and benefits to its full time employees
in compliance with the regulations in Hong Kong and the
PRC respectively, including medical scheme, provident fund or
retirement fund. In addition, the Group adopts a share option
scheme for eligible employees (including Directors) and consultants
to provide incentives to participants for their contributions and
continuing efforts to promote the interests of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEmRES

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 30 June 2024, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities (2023: Nil).

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 30 June 2024, the Group did not have any material charge or
assets (2023: Nil).

PROSPECT

We expect that the Group’s manufacturing and trading of
swimwear and garment products segment will remain steady. The
Group will continue to adopt costs cutting measures and is well
position to capture the business opportunities from the market
recovery. The Company is committed to maintaining this segment
as the Group's principal business. The Company will continue to
deepen its relationships with existing customers and will seek new
business opportunities with new customers including domestic
customers in China.

For the E-commerce and on-line shopping related segment, due to
the strong US dollar, there was a downward pressure in the selling
price of second hand mobile phones while the purchase costs
remained still. There was also lower demand for high quality mobile
phones. The Group will closely monitor the market challenges and
to maintain this segment in healthy operation.

For the money leading business, the Group will continue to
maintain and develop the business and to allocate sufficient
resources to meet business demands.
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are pleased to
submit their report together with the audited financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for
the year ended 30 June 2024 (the "Year").

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL ANALYSIS
OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities and other particulars of the subsidiaries are set
out in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group’s operations and assets are located in Hong Kong,
and the People’s Republic of China. An analysis of the Group’s
performance for the Year by business segments and consolidated
revenue and non-current assets of the Group by geographical
segments are set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income on pages 53 to 54 of this
annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend (2023:
Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW
The business review of the Group for the Year is provided in the

section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this
annual report.
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 151 and
152 of the annual report.

SHARES ISSUED DURING THE YEAR

Details of share issued during the Year are set out in note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTIVE RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during
the Year are set out in note 30(b) to the consolidated financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income and consolidated statement of
changes in equity respectively.

The Company’s reserves available for distribution comprise the
share premium account, less accumulated losses.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

There are no purchase, sale or redemption of the Company’s listed
securities by the Group during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association (the “Articles”) and the laws of the Cayman
Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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BORROWINGS AND PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 30 June 2024, the Group did not have any material
borrowings and pledge of assets.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Details of the share option scheme are set out in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme and the warrants subscription, the
Company has not entered into any equity-linked agreement for the
Year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year were:

Executive Directors

Ms. Chan Hiu Kwan
Mr. Lau Chun Fat, George

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Dr. Lee Chung Mong, John
Mr. Tam Wing Kin
Mr. Fung Chan Man, Alex

In accordance with the Articles, Mr. Lau Chun Fat, George and
Dr. Lee Chung Mong, John shall retire at the Annual General
Meeting. All the retiring Directors, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election at the Annual General Meeting.
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CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "GEM Listing Rules”), the changes in information of Directors
of the Company subsequent to the date of the 2023 Annual Report
required to be disclosed were the updated biographic details of the
Directors set out on pages 6 to 7 of the annual report.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other information required to
be disclosed pursuant to the Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing
Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting has an unexpired service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation,
other than normal statutory obligations.

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) confirmed that the Company
has received, from each of the Independent Non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers that
they are independent under Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board with
reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and
the results of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS THAT ARE
SIGNIFICANT IN RELATION TO THE GROUP'S BUSINESS

Save for contracts amongst group companies, no other
transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance to which
the Company’s subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of
the Company and the Director’s connected party had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
Year or at any time during the Year.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of directors and senior management are
set out on pages 6 to 7 of this annual report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy for the employees of the Group is set up
by the Compensation Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors of the Company are decided
by the Compensation Committee, having regard to the Group’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable market
statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive
to Directors and eligible employees, details of the scheme is set out
in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS AND/
OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
SPECIFIED UNDERTAKING OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
OTHER ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 30 June 2024, none of the directors and chief executives
of the Company has any interests or short position in the shares
("Share"), underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
352 of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standards of dealings by
Directors of the Company as referred to in Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

Substantial shareholders interests and short positions in
shares and underlying shares

As at 30 June 2024, other than the interests of a Director or
chief executive of the Company as disclosed under the heading
"“Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and/or short positions in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any specified undertaking of the Company or any other associated
corporation” above, the interests and short positions of persons in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of
the SFO were as follows:
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(i) Long positions in shares

Name of shareholder

RRERMS B8

Mr. Lau Chi Yuen, Joseph

JL Investments Capital Limited
JL Investments Capital Limited

Big Good Management Limited
("Big Good")

Big Good Management Limited
(I'Big Good 1)

Mr. Ma Hoi Cheuk (“Mr. Ma")

BYlegksE (BEE))

Wide Select Investments Limited
("Wide Select”)

Wide Select Investments Limited
(T'wide Select )

Mr. Lee Yim (“Mr. Lee")

FEiE (1F5EE))

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

() FKREZHFE

Number of shares

R EE

149,294,199
(Note 2)
149,294,199
(Htz22)

141,674,199
141,674,199

135,053,384
135,053,384
135,053,384

(Note 3)
135,053,384

(H1523)
126,642,000
126,642,000
126,642,000

(Note 4)

126,642,000
(Hi524)

Type of
interests

Personal and
Corporate
{EPNY/NE

Beneficial

L)
Bk

Beneficial

L)
Bk

Corporate

B
ol

Beneficial

L)
Bk

Corporate

B
ol

FEER (%) BRAR

ESTHS

Approximate
percentage of
issued share
capital (%)
HEETRE
WA B (%)
(Note 1)
(Htz21)

18.63%

17.68%

16.85%

16.85%

15.80%

15.80%
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(ii)

Notes:

1. The percentage of issued share capital had been arrived at on the
basis of a total of 801,535,615 Shares in issue as at 30 June 2024.

2. These shares are held as to 7,620,000 shares by Mr. Lau personally
and as to 141,674,199 shares by JL Investments Capital Limited (“JL
Investments”), which is wholly-owned by Mr. Lau. Mr. Lau is deemed

to be interested in the shares held by JL Investments.

3. Big Good is wholly-owned by Mr. Ma who is deemed to be

interested in underlying shares held by Big Good.

4. Wide Select is wholly-owned by Mr. Lee who is deemed to be

interested in underlying shares held by Wide Select.

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of

equity derivatives of the Company

Name of shareholder

IRRER, g

Wide Select

Wide Select
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(ii)

Number of shares

RI7 &8

237,435,165
(Note 3 & 4)
237,435,165

(Ht523%4)

237,435,165
(Note 2)
237,435,165
(Htz22)
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3. Big GoodHEBLRELERER  MUBLERR
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4. Wide SelectHAZFHRAEZERER » T HRER
RAEB HWide SelectFTF 2 B (D 2 #
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REREREBRBRELITETR ZIERHR
BZHFE

Approximate
percentage of
issued share

Type of interests capital (%)

HBE 1T

B s BE4Y

HEmER B tb(%)

(Note 1)
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Notes:
1. see Note 1 on page 22.
2. see Note 4 on page 22.

3. Wide Select was the holder of 1,063,333,333 convertible non-
voting preference shares of HK$0.15 each which have no voting
rights and are convertible into ordinary shares. Pursuant to the terms
of the convertible non-voting preference shares, the conversion price
of the outstanding convertible non-voting preference shares has
been adjusted from HK$1.20 per share to HK$1.121 per share as
a result of the Rights Issue. The said adjustment took effect on 19
August 2020, being the day next following the Record Date.

4. Wide Select was also the holder of 166,693,518 series B convertible
non-voting preference shares of HK$0.16 each which have no voting
rights and are convertible into ordinary shares. Pursuant to the
terms of the series B convertible non-voting preference shares, the
conversion price of the outstanding series B convertible non-voting
preference shares had been adjusted from HK$0.30 to HK$0.2803
per share as a result of the Rights Issue. The said adjustment took
effect on 19 August 2020, being the day next following the Record
Date.

(iii) Short positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of
equity derivatives of the Company

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2024, the Directors of
the Company were not aware of any other person (other than
the Directors and chief executive of the Company) who had
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares
of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S RIGHT TO
SUBSCRIBE FOR EQUITY OR DEBT SECURITIES

At no time during the Year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of equity or debt
securities of the Company or any other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning management or administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Year.

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions” below in this
Director’s Report, there was no contract of significant between the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and a controlling shareholder or
any of its subsidiary during the Year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year and up to the date of this report, no connected
transactions were entered into between the Company or any of
its subsidiaries and a connected person as defined under the GEM
Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of
the Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public
throughout the Year and up to the date of this report.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s revenue and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers during the Year is

as follows:

The largest customer RARKER

Five largest customers in aggregate ERER G
The largest supplier RAMHER

Five largest suppliers in aggregate hREEESE

At no time during the Year have the Directors, their respective
associates and any Shareholder (who to the knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the issued share capital of the
Company) had any interest in any of the five largest customers and
suppliers of the Group.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

The Group is committed to contributing to the sustainability of
the environment and maintaining a high standard of corporate
social governance essential for creating a framework for motivating
staff, and contributes to the community in which we conduct our
business and creating a sustainable return to the Group.

HEALTH AND SAFETY

Health and safety are the most pressing concern across our business
operations. The Group strives to provide a healthy and safe working
environment to the employees.
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ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION

Conservation of the environment is a key focus for the Group.
The Group complies with environmental legislation, encourages
environmental protection and promotes environmental protection
awareness to all employees of the Group.

COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT

The Group is committed to participating in community events from
time to time, and to the improvement of community well-being and
social services. The Group supports and encourages staffs to actively
participate in a wide range of charitable events outside working
hours, to raise awareness and concern for the community, and to
inspire more people to take part in serving the community in order
to provide loving care and financial assistance to the needy.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group has adopted compliance and risk management
policies and procedures, and members of the senior management
are delegated with the continuing responsibility to monitor
adherence and compliance with all significant legal and regulatory
requirements.

As far as the Board is aware, the Group has complied in material
respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the business and operation of the Company
and its subsidiaries.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES

Employees is one of the key stakeholders who affected the
sustainability of our business, their contribution and support are
values at all times. The Group believes that our people are critical
success factors to the Group’s competitiveness in the market. As
such, the Group regularly reviews compensation and benefits
policies accordingly to industry benchmark as well as the individual
performance of employees. Share options are provided to retain
loyal employees for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards
to eligible participants who contributed to the success of the
Group’s operations.
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The Group encourages its employees to participate in external
seminars to keep abreast of changes and updates on areas of
legal, compliance and financial accounting and reporting. Through
these types of training, we believe that the Group can increase
its efficiency and productivity while in general, the risk and
uncertainties of the Group can be reduced. The Company also
encourages continuous professional development training for the
Directors and senior management to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills which includes seminars and training, updates
on regulatory requirements and development and corporate
governance practices.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision that provides for indemnity against
liability incurred by the Directors and officers of the Company is
currently in force and was in force throughout the Year.

COMPETING INTERESTS

The Directors are not aware of, as at 30 June 2024, any business or
interest of each Director, substantial shareholder and management
shareholders (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) and their
respective associates that competes or may compete with the
business of the Group and any other conflicts of interest which any
such person has or may have with the Group.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy (the”Dividend Policy”)
during the year, according to the Dividend Policy, when determining
whether to declare any dividend in the future and the amount of
dividend to be declared, the Board shall take into account, included
but not limited to:

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESTHS

AEERBEESEAIEMT T URREE
B ARURYM B G St R B RA# A E
FREMER - HFIERE BEZFERNZE
Al AEEFRSERUERES BFRAE
B2 AR LDTRERR AATTEE
EheREEBECTHFESELREI (Hd
BEMNEREIN EEERRERUREE
ERABRZENER UBERRENRE ZA
s S B BE o

HEBERX

MERBEZERERBEMERZEEME
HBEZHEBRERXIRNAEN LNEAFE
RFEBEN -

R

BEENANBN 2 _NFEAA=+H"&8E
S TERFREEERTK (EERGEMLE™
RA) RIRFLZEZHBA T ZEMERLF]
mEREREBEERIAAIEEFESRTE T
ARBEEAZSEATREAEBRFENTRET
EEAEMA &R

REEER

EFERAFEARM—EREBER (KRR
BER)) REREEE ERIREREEIR
ERAREREMREZER EFGRERES
HAZ > SFEETRRR

EER () BRAE —T_MFEFH 027



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESTHRS

(i) the Group’s liquidity position and future commitments; (ii)
the Group’s actual and expected financial performance; (iii) the
Group's business operation strategy, including expected working
capital requirements, capital expenditure requirements and future
expansion plans; (iv) the general economic conditions and other
internal or external factors that may have an impact on the business
or financial performance and position of the Company; (v) retained
earnings and distributable reserves of the Company; (vi) any
restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by the
Group’s lenders; and (vii) any other factors that the Board deems
appropriate.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintain high standards of corporate
governance for the Company. During the Year, the Company is in
compliance with the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year have been
audited by Elite Partners CPA Limited. A resolution will be submitted
to the Annual General Meeting to re-appoint Elite Partners CPA

Limited as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Lau Chun Fat, George
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 September 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) is committed to maintain
high standards of corporate governance for the Company. During
the year ended 30 June 2024 (the “Year”), the Company is in
compliance with the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
as set out in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “GEM Listing Rules”).

THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company and oversees the Group's businesses, strategic decisions
and performances. Daily operations and execution are delegated
to management. The Board is also responsible for performing the
corporate governance duties set out below:

(@) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(c) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to Directors and
employees;

(d) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; and

(e) to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

The Executive Directors are responsible for running the Group and
executing the strategies adopted by the Board. The Independent
Non-executive Directors provide the Group with a wide range of
expertise and experience, to ensure that the Board accounts for the
interests of all shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”)
and that all issues are considered in an objective manner.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERRS

All Directors give sufficient time and attention to the Group’s affairs.
The Board believes that the balance between Executive Directors
and Non-executive Directors is reasonable and adequate to provide
checks and balances that safeguard the interests of Shareholders
and the Group. The Company considers that the Board has the
necessary skills and experience appropriate for discharging their
duties as Directors act in the best interest of the Company and that
the current Board size is adequate for its present operations.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND MEETINGS AND
DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE

The Board comprises five members and their positions, as at the
date of this report, are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Chun Fat, George (Chairman)
Ms. Chan Hiu Kwan (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Lee Chung Mong, John
Mr. Tam Wing Kin
Mr. Fung Chan Man, Alex

Details of the backgrounds and qualifications of the Directors are
set out in the section of “Directors and Senior Management's
Biographies” on pages 6 to 7 of the annual report for the Year.
All Directors have exercised due care, skill and diligence and
fulfilled fiduciary duties to all the significant issues of the financial,
operational, compliance and risk management of the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”). Each Executive
Director has accumulated sufficient and valuable experience to hold
his position in order to ensure that his fiduciary duties have been
carried out in an efficient and effective manner. Save as disclosed,
none of the members of the Board have, in any respect, relation to
each other in any circumstances.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board meets at least four times each year and more frequently
as the needs of the business demand. The Board held 13 board
meetings and 1 general meeting for the Year. Details of the
attendance of the Board members are as follows:

EXERRS
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Attendance
HERE
Board General
meetings meetings
Executive Directors BITESE EXEggs REAE
Mr. Lau Chun Fat, George R 13/13 11
Ms. Chan Hiu Kwan PRBEYS 21 13/13 11
Independent Non-executive Directors B IEMITES
Dr. Lee Chung Mong, John FHXEL 5/13 11
Mr. Tam Wing Kin BEREALE 5/13 11
Mr. Fung Chan Man, Alex BB 5/13 171

The Company Secretary assists the Chairman in preparing the
agenda for meetings and ensures that all applicable rules and
regulations are followed. The Company Secretary also keeps
detailed minutes of each meeting, which are available to all
Directors for inspection. A draft of board minutes are circulated to
all Directors for their comment and approved as soon as practicable
after the board meetings.

All Directors have access to relevant and timely information,
and they can ask for further information or retain independent
professional advisors if necessary. They also have unrestricted
access to the advice and service of the Company Secretary, who is
responsible for providing Directors with board papers and related
materials and ensuring that board procedures are followed.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERRS

Should a potential conflict of interest involving a substantial
shareholder or Director arise, the matter is discussed in an actual
meeting, as opposed to being dealt with by written resolution.
Independent Non-executive Directors with no conflict of interest are
present at meeting dealing with conflict issues. Board committees,
including the Audit, Compensation, Finance and Nomination
Committees, all follow the applicable practices and procedures used
in board meetings for committee meetings.

The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and Officers’
liabilities insurance cover in respect of legal actions against Directors
and senior management arising out of corporate activities.

The Directors are encouraged to enroll in relevant professional
development programme to ensure that they are aware of their
responsibilities under the legal and regulatory requirements
applicable to the Company. During the Year, the Company arranged
training on compliance of the GEM Listing Rules, to the Directors
and senior management for continuous professional development
of their knowledge and skills in performance of their functions. The
Company Secretary maintains records of training attended by the
Directors. The training attended by the Directors during the Year are

as follows:

Executive Directors BITESE
Mr. Lau Chun Fat, George R E
Ms. Chan Hiu Kwan RS+

Independent Non-executive Directors &I IEHITESE

Dr. Lee Chung Mong, John FHEXEL
Mr. Tam Wing Kin BB
Mr. Fung Chan Man, Alex BRI E
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Independent Non-executive Directors

In order to protect the interest of the Shareholders, the Company
appointed three Independent Non-executive Directors with relevant
and sufficient experience and qualification to perform their duties.
One of the three Independent Non-executive Directors possesses
appropriate professional accounting qualifications and financial
management expertise, which complies with the requirement of
the GEM Listing Rules. During the Year, the Board at all times met
the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules of 5.06 relating to have
at least one-third in number of its Board members comprising
Independent Non-executive Directors. The three Independent Non-
executive Directors declared and confirmed with the Company
on an annual basis of their independency with the Group in
accordance with Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Board has
assessed and concluded that all the Independent Non-executive
Directors are independent in appearance and in substance in view
of the definition of the GEM Listing Rules. The Independent Non-
executive Directors do not hold any office with any connected
parties of the Company or have any financial interests other
than those Directors’ remuneration as disclosed in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statement.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

According to the Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles
of the Chairman and the CEO should be separate and performed
by different individuals to ensure a balance of power and authority
so that power is not concentrated in any one individual. Mr. Lau
Chun Fat, George, the executive Director, is the Chairman and is
responsible for the leadership of the Board while Ms. Chan Hiu
Kwan, the executive Director, is the CEO and is responsible for
managing the Group'’s business and overall operations.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERRS

The Chairman of the Company has held one private meeting with
all Independent Non-executive Directors to discuss major events or
issues which incurred during the Year and the Company’s business
plan to be developed in the coming year. The Board believed that
Independent Non-executive Directors could through this private
meeting voice out their concerns on financial aspect after discussed
major events or issues and provided constructive advice on the
direction of the Company'’s future development.

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND RETIREMENT

The procedures of appointment, re-election and retirement of
Directors are published in the Articles of the Company. The
procedures for Shareholders to propose any person to become a
Director of the Company are published on the Company's website.

Independent Non-executive Directors were not appointed for
specific terms, subject to re-election. Every Director is subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

In accordance with the Articles, Mr. Lau Chun Fat, George and
Dr. Lee Chung Mong, John shall retire at the AGM. All the
retiring Directors, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at
the AGM.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors,
all Directors of the Company have complied with the required
standard of dealings and the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors adopted by the Company throughout the
Year.

The Company has adopted the same code of conduct for securities
transactions by employees who are likely to be in possession of
inside information of the Company.

No incident of non-compliance of the code of conduct by the
relevant employees was noted by the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

The Company established Compensation Committee with specific
written terms of reference which deal clearly with its authority and
duties in accordance with the GEM Listing Rules. As at the date
of this report, the Compensation Committee comprises a majority
members of Independent Non-executive Directors.

At 30 June 2024, the Compensation Committee comprised three
Independent Non-executive Directors, Dr. Lee Chung Mong, John,
Mr. Tam Wing Kin, Mr. Fung Chan Man, Alex and one Executive
Director, Ms. Chan Hiu Kwan. Mr. Fung Chan Man, Alex is the
Chairman of the Committee.

The Compensation Committee proposed to the Chairman relating
to the remuneration of Executive Directors. The Compensation
Committee also recommended to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing policy on such remuneration.

The Director’s fee payable to him is determined by making reference
to his duties and responsibilities in the Company and the prevailing
market conditions, as approved by the Board in accordance with
the Company’s remuneration policy pursuant to the authority given
by the Shareholders. No Director has taken part in setting his own
remuneration. Meetings of the Compensation Committee shall be
held at least once a year.

The Compensation Committee held 3 meetings during the Year.
Details of the attendance of the Compensation Committee
meetings are as follows:

Committee members ZEgHE
Dr. Lee Chung Mong, John FTHKXEL
Mr. Tam Wing Kin Eslieb e
Mr. Fung Chan Man, Alex IR
Ms. Chan Hiu Kwan PREES 2+

During the Year, there was three meetings held by the
Compensation Committee to review the Group's term of reference
for the Compensation Committee and review all Directors’
remuneration.

Details of the remuneration paid to Directors and members of
senior management by band for the Year are disclosed in notes
13(b) and 14(a) to the consolidated financial statements.
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EXERRS

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a Nomination Committee in
2005. The Nomination Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on nominations, appointment
of Directors and Board succession. The Nomination Committee
selects candidates for directorship with reference to the board
diversity policy (the “Policy”) and the candidate’s professional
knowledge, industry experience, personal ethics and integrity, and
time commitments. During the selection process, the Nomination
Committee may consider referrals or engage external recruitments
professionals when necessary.

The Board has adopted a Policy in August 2013 which sets out
the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The Company
recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board to
enhance the quality of its performance. In designing the Board’s
composition, Board diversity has been considered from a number
of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments will be
based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on
the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision will be
based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will
bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee of the Company will monitor the
implementation of the Policy and will from time to time review the
Policy, as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the Policy.

The Nomination Committee comprises at least three members, the
majority of whom shall be Independent Non-executive Directors.
The current members of the Nomination Committee are Ms. Chan
Hiu Kwan, Dr. Lee Chung Mong, John, Mr. Tam Wing Kin and Mr.
Fung Chan Man, Alex. Mr. Fung Chan Man, Alex is the Chairman
of the Committee. Meetings of the Nomination Committee shall be
held at least once a year.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Nomination Committee held 1 meeting during the Year. Details
of the attendance of the Nomination Committee meeting is as

follows:

Committee members ZEGKE
Dr. Lee Chung Mong, John FHXEL
Mr. Tam Wing Kin Eslieb e
Mr. Fung Chan Man, Alex TBIE
Ms. Chan Hiu Kwan PREETSZ +

During the Year, there was one meeting held by the Nomination
Committee to review the size and composition of the Board and the
Group's term of reference for the Nomination Committee.

FINANCE COMMITTEE

The Company established a Finance Committee with written terms
of reference to review and approve banking facilities to be granted
or issued by the Company, provision of corporate guarantees by
the Company for its subsidiaries and opening of bank or securities
related accounts. The Finance Committee comprises at least three
members. The current members of the Finance Committee are Ms.
Chan Hiu Kwan, Dr. Lee Chung Mong, John, Mr. Tam Wing Kin
and Mr. Fung Chan Man, Alex. Mr. Fung Chan Man, Alex is the
Chairman of the Committee.

The Finance Committee held 2 meetings during the Year. Details of
the attendance of the Finance Committee meeting is as follows:

Committee members ZEENE
Dr. Lee Chung Mong, John FHXEL
Mr. Tam Wing Kin BRI
Mr. Fung Chan Man, Alex IR RS
Ms. Chan Hiu Kwan PREES 2L+

During the Year, there were two meetings held by the Finance
Committee to review and approve the banking facilities of the
Group and opening of bank or securities related accounts.
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EXERRS

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an Audit Committee. The primary duties
of the Audit Committee is to communicate with the management
of the Company from time to time, including but not limited to
review the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Company, the effectiveness of its internal control systems, the
quarterly, interim and annual results of the Company. The Audit
Committee is also responsible for considering the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditor and reviewing
the impairment to its independency with any non-audit services
performed by the external auditor.

As at the date of this report, the members of Audit Committee,
which are all Independent Non-executive Directors, are Dr. Lee
Chung Mong, John, Mr. Tam Wing Kin and Mr. Fung Chan Man,
Alex. Mr. Tam Wing Kin is the Chairman of the Committee.

The Audit Committee held 5 meetings during the Year. Details of
the attendance of the Audit Committee meetings are as follows:

Committee members ZEEMNE
Dr. Lee Chung Mong, John FHXBL
Mr. Tam Wing Kin EEEEs
Mr. Fung Chan Man, Alex IR RS

During the Year, there were five meetings held by the Audit
Committee (i) to review the Company’s audited annual results for
the financial year ended 30 June 2023, unaudited first quarterly
results for the three months ended 30 September 2023 and
unaudited interim results for the six months ended 31 December
2023; (i) to review the Group’s internal control system; and (iii) to
review the Group’s term of reference for the Audit Committee.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION ZEEMEN £

During the Year, the total fee paid/payable in respect of audit and R ZAEE > SiAA S JMNEXH MR HTAZ KR IE
non-audit services provided by the Company’s external auditor is set ~ EZRFE 2 B FEM S 4BZBEHZIU0 T :
out below:

HK$'000
HEFT
Types of services RF5ELE
Audit assurance services BEIZEE RS 538,000
COMPANY SECRETARY NEIME

The Company Secretary has been a full time employee who has AT ME—BHERNALNTEH Z2RES -
knowledge of the Company’s affair. The Company Secretary of the ZAATZATMEABRES LT KN _Z
Company is Ms. Chan Hiu Kwan, who is engaged and appointedby —— & N\B=ZHEEZEEGZEREZT -NEE
the Board on 3 August 2011. For the Year, the Company Secretary > ARBZ ABMERDBH BT LIRS
of the Company confirmed that she has taken no less than 15 hours  /)\B¥ 2 BRI SH H 25l o

of relevant professional training.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERRS

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board is responsible for presenting a clear, balanced assessment
of the Group’s performance and prospects. It is also responsible for
preparing financial statements that give a true and fair view of the
Group's financial position on a going concern basis and other price-
sensitive announcements and financial disclosures. Management
provides the Board with the relevant information it needs to
discharge these responsibilities.

The responsibilities of the auditor to the shareholders are set out in
the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 45 to 52.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is overall responsible for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving
the Group's strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Group
established and maintained appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee reviews the risk management and internal
controls that are significant to the Group on an on-going basis.
The Audit Committee would consider the adequacy of resource,
qualifications and experience and training of staff and external
advisor of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting function.

The management of the Group is responsible for designing,
maintaining, implementing and monitoring of the risk management
and internal control system to ensure adequate control in place to
safeguard the Group’s assets and stakeholder’s interest.
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The Group has established risk management procedures to address ~EBEBHIE] A G SRR > R KRR EAZ
and handle all significant risks associated with the business of the HEBEXHERMNAEEARKM ESSSFY
Group. The Board would perform annual review on any significant ~ 2#5IR1E H IR E M E RS EEITIRET > W Hl
change of the business environment and establish procedures E2FUEHEFIBENE X BCERNE
to response the risks result from significant change of business [ 525t EMREIE R NIIEHIR A S TR
environment. The risk management and internal control systems are ~ #5AYETEES 18 o

designed to mitigate the potential losses of the business.

The management would identify the risks associated with the EIEEBHEBZE BEBUA &7 M IRIE 4t
business of the Group by considering both internal and external B&ETERNIEAEREHUBTETALEER
factors and events which include political, economic, technology, ¥(FEERMNERK -SERMHEREEMARER
environmental, social and staff. Each risk has been assessed — ZB Ry &% 4 i R 1730 R B S HEE o IR 21 (1
and prioritised based on their relevant impact and occurrence #4558 BRI A EIEREFEBERN S EAR
opportunity. The relevant risk management strategy would be [ERSIERIEWEIREFIWMT :

applied to each type of risks according to the assessment results,

type of risk management strategy has been listed as follow:

e Risk retention and reduction: accept the impact of risk or o REBBEZERELD  AEBESEBNEE
undertake actions by the Group to reduce the impact of the FIKETENLUR D RN E ;
risks;

e Risk avoidance: change business process or objective so asto o  RERFRE | WEEFRENBEZLUIRER
avoid the risk; B ;

e Risk sharing and diversification: diversify the effect of the risk o  ERDERZHIE  BRABNEEZ TE
or allocate to different location or product or market; HAEEFEUENERITIZ ;

e Risk transfer: transfer ownership and liability to a third party. o RERERE  BFAEEASEEBEE =
Valks

The internal control systems are designed and implemented to  RstFIBHERI IS R 47 > LB/ B A E 1%
reduce the risks associated with the business accepted by the = RIZEFSHERIN AR - T3 &5/ BN AF]
Group and minimise the adverse impact results from the risks. R Z4ER - RFT AR BIE MR IIEHIRAKTL S
The risk management and internal control system are design to  EIEMIEHPFAREBIREF BIZHERR  (25E
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business IRt &EMIFBEH MRE > HLEHIRERER
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute  Z#Esko

assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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EXERRS

During the Year, the Group has engaged an external advisory firm
to undertake the internal audit function to ensure the effectiveness
and efficiency of the risk management and internal control system
of the Group. No significant deficiency and weakness on the
internal control system has been identified by the external advisory
firm for the Year.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedure for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary
General Meeting

Pursuant to article 58 of the Company’s Articles, the Board may
whenever it thinks fit call extraordinary general meetings. Any one
or more members holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board
or the secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of
any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall
be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition.
If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Procedures for put forward a proposal at a Shareholders’
meeting

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to propose
resolutions at general meetings under the Company’s Articles or
the Cayman Islands Companies Law. As regard to the procedure
for proposing a person for election as a Director, please refer to
the procedures made available under the “Corporate Information”
section (Procedures to propose director) of the Company’s website
at www.luxey.com.hk.

Procedures by which enquiries may be put to the Board
Shareholders may at any time send their enquires to the Board in

writing through the Company Secretary of the Company’s website
at www.luxey.com.hk.

Address: Unit B, 5th Floor, Hang Cheong Factory Building,
1 Wing Ming Street, Cheung Sha Wan,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

Telephone:  (852) 2520 6020

Email: admin@luxey.com.hk

The Company Secretary of the Company shall forward the
Shareholders’ enquiries to the Board, where appropriate to answer
the Shareholders’ questions.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, the Company has amended its articles of
association by adopting an amended and restated articles
of association for the purpose of conforming with certain
amendments to the GEM Listing Rules which became effective on
1 January 2022 and for housekeeping purpose. Please refer to the
Company'’s circular dated 17 November 2023 for details of the
amendments.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company follows a policy of disclosing relevant information
to Shareholders in a timely manner. The Company also recognises
that people other than Shareholders, such as potential investors
and the investment community generally may have an interest in
information about the Company. Annual, quarterly and interim
reports offer comprehensive operational and financial performance
information to Shareholders and the AGM provides a forum for
Shareholders to exchange views directly with the Board. The
Company regards the AGM as an important event and all Directors,
senior management and external auditor make an effort to attend
the AGM of the Company to address Shareholders’ queries. All the
Shareholders are given a minimum of 20 clear days and minimum
of 20 clear business days’ notice of the date and venue of the AGM
of the Company. The Company supports the CG Code’s principle
to encourage Shareholders’ participation. The Company has also
complied with the requirements concerning voting by poll under
the GEM Listing Rules. Details of the poll voting procedures and
the rights of Shareholders to demand a poll included in circulars
to Shareholders dispatched by the Company and explained by
the chairman of general meeting at the meeting. All resolutions
proposed at general meeting are voted separately. The results of the
poll was published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

The Company has maintained a corporate website
(www.luxey.com.hk) as a channel to promote effective corporate
communication with the investors and the general public. The
website is used to disseminate Company announcements, circulars,
Shareholder information and other relevant financial and non-
financial information in an electronic format on a timely basis.

The Shareholder communication policy is reviewed regularly to
ensure effectiveness and compliance with the current regulatory
and other requirements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

elite
partners

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
LUXEY INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Luxey International (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “"Group”) set out on pages 53 to 150, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
30 June 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 30 June 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance
and consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
"HKICPA™) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
WIS MRS

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “"Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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Key audit matter
F#E s FIR

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B EHBENRS

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EFEEBEPNNERERRESEE

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

FEUWLE 5 AR Z BB T

As disclosed in note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group’s trade receivables, net of
allowance for credit losses, was approximately
HK$27,816,000 as at 30 June 2024.

MMM BRRNF22PXE SEER_-ZE
THEARBE=THNEBWEZERR R EEEERE

) A4y 7E27,816,0007T ©

In determining whether there was objective evidence of
impairment loss, the Group took into consideration the
credit history of the customers and the current market
condition which may require management judgment.
REEESHFETAEBENTEERE S£EEEZ
BERNEATSHUKAIEREEEEEHERNERT™
AR ©

Our audit procedures in relation to impairment
assessment of trade receivables included:
BMERMZRERBESERRZAEFIGEZEHERFS
N

e understanding the Group’s procedures on credit
period given to customers with the management;

e MEERTHR BEEERTEREERNER

e checking, on a sample basis, the aging profile of
the trade receivables as at 30 June 2024 to the
underlying financial records and post year-end
settlements to bank record;

. %EEF BN _E_NFEA=ZTHNEBWE ZER

ARER 15 SR AR RE I B s s A e SR 1B ABRAER 1T 52
ﬁz ;

e inquiring management for the status of each of the
material balances of trade receivables past due as at
30 June 2024 and corroborating explanations from
management with supporting evidence, such as
understanding on-going business relationship with
the customers based on trade records, checking
historical and subsequent settlement records of and
other correspondence with the customers;

e MEBEEEMBN_Z_NFEAA=+HESZEHA
HARY FE UL B 5 BR AR KA BR RO AR 3 DA 2 F5 58 4%
EREEENMARE AIIIREE Zir 7 HER
FRREEBRG REREREEIRBEGE
SCER AR HAMIEE
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Key audit matter
SR

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EFEEBEPNNERERRESER

Impairment assessment of trade receivables (Continued)

FEWE 5 AR Z R BTG (&)

We identified impairment assessment of trade receivables
as a key audit matter due to the involvement of significant
judgment and management estimate in evaluating the
expected credit losses of the Group’s trade receivables at
the end of the reporting period.

B EKE ZERFURETEHA A —BRAREtE
B RARKRMEREHAR SEERKEZRAD
TAHA{E RIGIEE Y R ERH R EE L5t -

Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements

and our auditor’s report thereon.

e assessing the appropriateness of the expected
credit loss provisioning methodology, examining the
key data inputs, on a sample basis, to assess their
accuracy and completeness, and challenging the
assumptions, including both historical and forward-
looking information, used to determine the expected
credit losses.

o FHMETEHIEEEEERATHANESM MK
FRGERBHEEE AT G EEREMTE
M WHEEELMAEEESENNBREE
FEHEEFEBENRRIELERE

Hh &
EFANHMENEE - HthEH B TIERN

FHRANER EFBEGREMHRE M
BUIZ BB R & o
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Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors and the Audit Committee for
the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the Group'’s
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
WIS MRS

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

e  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
WIS MRS

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Wong Ho Kwan with Practising Certificate
number P07543.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Level 23, YF life Tower,

33 Lockhart Road,

Wan Chai,

Hong Kong

26 September 2024
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Revenue
Cost of sales and service rendered

Gross profit

Other income

Impairment loss (recognised)/
reversed under expected credit
losses model, net

Selling expenses

Administrative expenses

Loss from operations
Finance costs

Loss before tax
Income tax expense

Loss for the year

Loss for the year attributable to:

Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Loss per share
Basic and diluted (cents)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
FREmR

WA

HE IR RS Z B2

EF

H e

R EEBEENETH
Hs) /EREIRE

BiRFER
HERX
THRER

REER
LUE D RS

PRI ARG 1R
FRSMF

FREE

THALTEEFERESE :
RABHER A
FRER D

BREE

BEAREE (Bl

Notes

HraE

10

11

12

16

For the year ended 30 June 2024 E{E —ZF _[JUF N H =+ HIEF/EZE

2024 2023
—EmE =ET=
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT BT T
58,541 71,914
(43,619) (57,061)
14,922 14,853
2,167 1,994
(1,079) 547
(70) (109)
(16,953) (18,358)
(1,013) (1,073)
(233) (590)
(1,246) (1,663)
17) (18)
(1,263) (1,681)
(1,196) (1,482)
(67) (199)
(1,263) (1,681)
(0.15) (0.19)

szEm () ARAR —T-pess (JOO



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meiRm R Hth 2 E U R

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive (expense)/
income:

Item that will be reclassified
subsequently to profit and loss:
Exchange differences on translation

of foreign operations

Other comprehensive (expense)/
income for the year

Total comprehensive expense
for the year

Total comprehensive expense for
the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests
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FAEE

Hth2mE %) e

Bt ER DR
HmzBE
HEIRINEF 2 R A

FrHEMEE %) K

FRNEERAXZEE

THALEGFAZE
R ABER
RABHEB A
JEiERe tEm

2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
EEFT BT T
(1,263) (1,681)
(293) 1,424
(293) 1,424
(1,556) (257)
(1,489) (58)
(67) (199)
(1,556) (257)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAI. POSITION

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Interest in an associate

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories

Trade and other receivables
Loan receivables

Bank balances and cash

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables
Lease liabilities

Employee benefit obligations
Current tax liabilities

Total current liabilities

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

NON-CURRENT LIABILITY
Lease liabilities

NET ASSETS

FRBEE

Y EN G IS E 4
EREEE
R—EBE ARz Em

IERENE EMRER
MENEE

78

FEU B 7 K HA AR TR

R E ™
EE'TTHD@&EE%

MENEEME

mENEE

B B 5 R EMBRR
HEAR
RE®BMNEE
RIERIRE R

B RRAEER
MENEEFE
BEERERRBER

FREBERE
HE&R

BEFE

n‘l'F

BMBIRAR

As at 30 June 2024 R —ZFE_PUFENA=+H

Notes

Mzt

24
18
19

21
22
23
24

25
26
27

26

2024 2023
—E_ME T =
HK$000 HK$'000
BT BT
976 1,761
633 1,618
1,609 3,379
2,128 2,092
29,052 32,789
11,000 13,000
17,038 13,239
59,218 61,120
25,206 24,351
762 2,938
3,154 3,185
478 478
29,600 30,952
29,618 30,168
31,227 33,547
= 764
31,227 32,783

szEm (2R ARAR —T-pees (JOD



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e MBI AR

As at 30 June 2024 F*r—ZF _PAFENAF=+H

CAPITAL AND RESERVES B 2s e f#

Share capital EEZi

Reserves B

Equity attributable to owners of AR NG
the Company

Non-controlling interests JEEER =

TOTAL EQUITY T AREE

The consolidated financial statements were approved and

authorised for issue by the board of director on 26 September 2024

and are signed on its behalf by:

Chan Hiu Kwan
BREETS
Executive Director

HITEF
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Notes

KtaE

28

2024 2023
—E_NEF TEC=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFT BT T
269,325 270,910
(218,118) (218,214)
51,207 52,696
(19,980) (19,913)
31,227 32,783

HMEMBRRABAEFEN ST _HFEANA

I NBERtERRREET

BE

TR THNEEAE

Lau Chun Fat, George
g
Executive Director

HITEF



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FEEDEHR
For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARARBAES
Capital Non-
Share Share Translation redemption  Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve losses Sub-total interests equity
R TR & fE ERWE  EARERE RitER st SRR BELE
HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
BT BEF BT Vil dv EEF BT Vil 4w EEF
Asat 1 July 2022 RZBZZEtA-H 270910 705,729 298 150 (924,333) 52,754 (19,714) 33,040
Loss and total comprehensive incomel(expense)  ERBER2ENE/ () £8
for the year - - 1,424 - (1,482) (58) (199) (257)
As at 30 June 2023 and as at 1 July 2023 RIEZ=FRA=+ER
RZ%-=%tA-A 270,910 705,729 1722 150 (925,815) 52,69 (19.913) 32,783
Loss and total comprehensive expense ERBERZARTEE
for the year - - 293) - (1,19) (1,489) 67) (1,556)
Conversion of convertble non-voting SRTRRERZEERRALER
preference share into ordinary shares (1,585 1,585 - - - - - -
As at 30 June 2024 RZEZMERAZTR 269325 707,314 1429 150 (s27,011) 51,00 (19.980) 31227

BEER () BRAF

“ZE_FEFR D 5 7



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

SEHERER

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Bank interest income
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
(Reversal of provision)/provision for
employee benefit obligations
Impairment losses recognised/
(reversed) under expected
credit losses model

Operating cash flows before
movements in working capital
Change in inventories
Change in trade and
other receivables
Change in loan receivables
Change in trade and other payables

Cash generated from operations
Tax paid

Net cash generated from
operating activities

HEZHZHERE

PRIR AT 1R
FLLAFIREFRERZ
FAFS A
RITH S WA
MR RREITE

ERREEITE

EBERMEMEZ (BHE
EI

REIEEBEENIETY
B (BB BE
iR

i3
i i

{0

BB EEY Y ASES

3
=
A

@ Rt
[N
/H]]E

3o &

=
I X

\
I

Fe ELAhBR R &

PRI B 5 R EL M BR - &)

KEPRSHRE
BURIEA

REEHMSZRE R
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2024 2023
1022 —=Z-=

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT T

(1,246) (1,663)

233 590

(317) (14)

699 558

983 1,019

(15) 284

1,079 (547)

1,416 227

(27) 3,390

3,785 1,012

876 3,300

(1,191) (494)

4,859 7,435

(20) =

4,839 7,435




CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

Bank interest received

Proceed from disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Purchases of property,
plant and equipment

Net cash generated from/
(used in) investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

Repayment of lease liabilities

Proceed from loan from
substantial shareholder

Repayment of loan from
substantial shareholder

Interest paid

Net cash used in financing activities

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE
REPORTING PERIOD

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT THE END OF THE REPORTING
PERIOD

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GSaBHERER

BE LT _NFENH =+ HIEFE

For the year ended 30 June 2024

2024 2023
—EE —T=fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
KETHZRERE
BUERTTHIE 317 14
HEME - BEKRRKREZ
Frig=IE 86 =
BEYE BEKRRLE
= (988)
REZEFRT (FrA) Z
IREBEE 403 (974)
MEZEFSZIRERE
EEHEAaE (1,202) (1,474)
KEFEREZ
ERFEFHIE = 5,000
KEEFEREZ
BB = (5,000)
BFE - (53)
MBEEHFTRZIRE S (1,202) (1,527)
HeERREFEEHZ
EhnEEE 4,040 4,934
NS B ER B > 5L &
(241) 1,463
REPVMZHERESSEE
HE
13,239 6,842
RERARZHEREESEE
HE
17,038 13,239

FEER (%) BRAR

“ZE_FEFR D 5 9



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S M5 R R M sE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Luxey International (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability. The
address of registered office and principal place of business are
set out in “Corporate Information” section. The Company’s
shares are listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar ("HK$"), which is also the functional currency of
the Company and all values are rounded to nearest thousands
of units of HK$ (“HK$'000"), unless otherwise stated.

The Company is investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA™).
These consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure requirement by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM
Listing Rules”) and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost basis.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO 3.

HKFRSs

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily

effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the
first time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual

periods beginning on 1 July 2023 for the preparation of the

consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including the October 2020 and
February 2022 Amendments to HKFRS 17)
ERAMBREENE 17 (BFEZZ222F
+ARZEZZFEZRZ
BB BHREERFE17HRIESTE)
Amendments to HKAS 8
BEEGHEREERIEST A
Amendments to HKAS 12

BEAEGENE125ET A
Amendments to HKAS 12
BEAEGENE125ET A
Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2
SRS ENE IR RERMBREER
TEEEER|F25RERTA

FERF:IE ARG R REEET
&

RAEFERFERNMITTREMBRS
AR EIEET A

REFE ZEBRRRESHMBFRRE
B EEXERUTHEBGMAEME
IR _E_=ZFtHB—HHEBZEE
MR R A E NN BT BB R EEAEE]
b

Insurance Contracts

RERGHY

Definition of Accounting Estimates

B S 2R

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising

from a Single Transaction
HMEBIERZELENEEKRERERNIEIERIE
International Tax Reform-Pillar Two model Rules
BRI TSN 2 — 2T B AHRA

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

G BERZINER

FEER (%) BRAR —T_UEER 061



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S M5 R R M sE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRSs (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year. HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant
accounting policies” with “material accounting policy
information”. Accounting policy information is material if,
when considered together with other information included in
an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected
to influence decisions that the primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of the
related transactions, other events or conditions, even if the
amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy
information relating to material transactions, other events or
conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose
immaterial accounting policy information, such information
must not obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements
(the “Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an
entity applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting
policy disclosures and to judge whether information about
an accounting policy is material to its financial statements.
Guidance and examples are added to the Practice Statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRSs (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting
Policies (Continued)

In accordance with the guidance set out in the amendments,
accounting policy information that is standardised
information, or information that only duplicates or summarises
the requirements of the HKFRSs, is considered immaterial
accounting policy information and is no longer disclosed in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements so as not to
obscure the material accounting policy information disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

The application of the amendments has had no material
impact on the Group's financial positions and performance but
has affected the disclosure of the Group’s material accounting
policies set out in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Except for disclosed above, the application of other new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial performance and financial
positions for current and prior years and/or on the disclosure
set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S M 5 IR M5

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO 3. FERM:IEAMBHREENREEET
HKFRSs (Continued) v =)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and

ERMERRERZHTEBMBRS
AR EIERT A

AEBRTEREFSEAUTERMERR

amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet EUN I BB B REEL R HEET
effective: Pi N

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements?
BAMBREERF185 P ERRI 25 e 4% 283

HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosure?

BBMBEREERE195%
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7
ERAMBREENFITRK
BBMBREEBNETRETER
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

BEMBRESEDE109
BAEGE R B8R EFT R
Amendments to HKFRS 16
BEVBHREENF 6B A
Amendments to HKAS 1

i

BEEREIRE X

Amendments to HKAS 1
BEGHEFIRET R
Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7
BEGHEFETRK
BBMBREEBNETRETER
Amendments to HKAS 21
BEGHERE2IRETR
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

BEMBREERNFENRE

FREZEEEMBAR | KB
Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments*
TR AN ERE

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture®
REERERENRNAE X BNEEHERHES

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback’

ERCEFNEESE

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)"

ReBErBARBIERSREBRESSTE (CE2TF) 2184
(EHEN

Non-Current Liabilities with Covenants'

BRAONIERBEE'

Supplier Finance Arrangements'

HEEmE 2

Lack of Exchangeability?

TR Al A2

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 114
BREVHREE G5 EN 2 FEOUE — $111

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024. ! RIZEZNFE—B—BHZBHERNEE
AARAER

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025. 2 RIEZHEF—B—HRZEBHRENFEE
AR -

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027. ) RIZEZtF—B—HBHZ2EMRENFE
HAR Lo

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026. ¢ RIZBIRFE—B—BHZEBEMRRNEE
AARAER

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be = REFTEEz BRI 2 ERENEEEHR[

determined. 3o

EXVAIERMAENII BB BREE
AR BB R R RGN A RS R
KEMUFZRREEERTE

The directors anticipate that the application of all new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on
the financial performance and financial positions in the
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

The material accounting policy information applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set
out below.

Basic of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

e has power over the investee;

e is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date
the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases
to control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group’s accounting policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S M5 R R M sE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Foreign currency

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group
(i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case
the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests (“NCI") as appropriate).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or
valuation of assets less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

The principal annual rates are as follows:

20% or
over the lease terms,

Leasehold improvement

whichever is shorter

Furniture, fixture and 20%-50%
office equipment
Plant and machinery

Motor vehicles

20%
20%-25%

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S M5 R R M sE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Leases

The Group as a lessee

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of offices that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S M5 R R M sE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out basis. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. Cost necessary
to make the sale include incremental costs directly attributable
to the sale and non-incremental costs which the Group must
incur to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Interest income from money lending business which are
derived from the Group’s ordinary course of business are
presented as revenue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S M 5 IR M5

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4, BEXGHHEER @)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss ("ECL") model on financial assets (including trade
receivables, loan receivables, deposits, other receivables and
bank balances). The amount of ECL is updated at the end of
each reporting period to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result
from default events that are possible within 12 months after
the end of reporting period. Assessments are done based
on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
without significant financing component.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4.

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in
which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment
of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the end of the reporting period with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S M 5 IR M5

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)
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Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in
the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for
the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S M5 R R M sE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(i) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
default events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower's
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

(d) itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.
The Group uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL
on trade receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S M5 R R M sE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are considered
on a collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as
forward-looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

e  Past-due status;

e Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

e  External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to

ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4.

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables
and loan receivables where the corresponding adjustment
is recognised through a loss allowance account.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are denominated
in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency and
translated at the spot rate at the end of each reporting period.
Specifically:

For financial assets measured at amortised cost that are
not part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange
differences are recognised in profit or loss as part of net foreign
exchange gains/(losses).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S M 5 IR M5

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4, BEXGHHEER @)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Perpetual instruments, which include no contractual obligation
for the Group to deliver cash or other financial assets or the
Group has the sole discretion to defer payment of distribution
and redemption of principal amount indefinitely are classified
as equity instruments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (trade and other payables (excluded
contract liabilities and accrued staff costs)) are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign
currency and are measured at amortised cost at the end
of each reporting period, the foreign exchange gains and
losses are determined based on the amortised cost of the
instruments. These foreign exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss as part of net foreign exchange
gains/(losses) for financial liabilities that are not part of a
designated hedging relationship.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S M5 R R M sE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include cash, which comprises
of cash on hand and demand deposits, excluding bank
balances that are subject to regulatory restrictions that result in
such balances no longer meeting the definition of cash.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents
as defined above.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

e the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

e the Group's performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when control
of the goods has transferred, being when the goods have
been shipped to the wholesale’s specific location (delivery).
Following delivery, the wholesaler has full discretion over the
manner of distribution and price to sell the goods, has the
primary responsibility when on selling the goods and bears
the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to the goods.
A receivable is recognised by the Group when the goods are
delivered to the wholesaler as this represents the point in time
at which the right to consideration becomes unconditional, as
only the passage of time is required before payment is due.
The maximum credit terms granted to customers are up to
180 days. Each customer has a maximum credit limit. For new
customers, payment in advance is normally required.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S M 5 IR M5

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4, EXGHHEER @)

(Continued)
Employee benefits BEEF

() EESEZEA

(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting
period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

(i) Retirement benefit obligations

The Group contributes to a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme
(the “"MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme Ordinance for all employees in Hong Kong.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ relevant income and are charged to profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed in the MPF Scheme. Under the MPF Scheme,
the employer and its employees are each required to
make contribution to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF
Scheme vest immediately.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Retirement benefit obligations (Continued)

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries which
operate in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC")
are required to participate in a central pension scheme
operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of its payroll costs to the central pension
scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules
of the central pension scheme. The Group's employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed in the central pension scheme. The Group
has no forfeiture of pension scheme contributions (i.e.
contributions processed by the employer on behalf of the
employee who has exited the scheme prior to vesting of
such contributions).

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the date when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits, and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period

in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S M5 R R M sE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable. Such grants are presented under
“other income”.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred
tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from “loss before tax” recognised
in profit or loss because of items of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses or unused
tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the
time of the transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and interest
in an associate, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interest are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits
of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse
in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to
settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S M5 R R M sE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (the “CGU") to which the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are allocated
to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be established, or otherwise they are allocated
to the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The recoverable
amount is determined for the CGU or group of CGUs to which
the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying
amount of the relevant CGU or group of CGUs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a CGU) for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted.

D 8 8 Luxey International (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2024

4,

EXRGSHBREN @

ME-BERRBEAREREEEZRHE

RESHR cEBEERANE KFE
RERBUREREEENREE UETE
ZEEEACHRAEBRERIR HEFE
ERZFHR AEEHEREER A URE
T8 UEERERIE WA EE-

FEBRSERILFTYE BB RRE UK
fEREEERN T WCIEEE AR BERIR
st e A EE G XEEMR
BREETEA ((REELEML) BT
[l

HRTEFTBUETRERNSR  HAZ2
T—EEER—BNDEEER REE
EgWoEEIEMREELEEN TRIE
EROEETRY—EEGER—BH
DEEENR/NMERNNREEELER [ A
WRIZESDIRBADEEFMBHIRETE
FENNREEEEUMARMEE LA
HEREEEEUNIREEELEMAR
RYEBREE{FELE -

B (0] & BB 5 A - 5 Rl & B 7 e 158
BE CUBREERE) FEERABER:
ER G RRBEERERVALIREN
BRRE 2R MRRRRERNHSEY
TREBEENFEREREE (WRE
EEEM) (RERRZREBMGEFTILRF
HERE) FISHE R -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the
obligations, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value
of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of
money is material).

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are
identified from the financial information provided regularly
to the Group’s most senior executive management for
the purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group's various lines of business and
geographical locations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S M5 R R M sE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Segment reporting (Continued)

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past
events but is not recognised because it is not probable that
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will
be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the
obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected to be met
by other parties is treated as a contingent liability and it is not
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits has
become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow
of future economic benefits will be required for an item
previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision is
recognised in the consolidated financial statements in the
reporting period in which the change in probability occurs,
except in the extremely rare circumstances where no reliable
estimate can be made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Related party

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is

related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or the Group’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member
of a group of which the other entity is a member);

4. EXGHBEREN @

A B 75

WEEUTER =D RESERER
ERE

(a)

s U TR %S R
MALRIER RS EEERE

() ERHHEFEFRTER ;

(il HEEEBEATLES] X

(i BEAEEREERFATMNE
EEEBEME -

BT & U TMEMAGFRT B ERERE
A R

() ZBREFSEEBR-—SEEMN
B8 E\ﬂ( BEHAFT WEBA
BIRFARNBATEERRE ;

(i) —EEEAS—ERENHBKER
BNEErLE (HARAEERER
BINBEABRREEREMS
—BERAZEEMRERA) ;

FEER (%) BRAR —T_UEER 091



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S M5 R R M sE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Related party (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (Continued)

(iii) both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); or

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is
a part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the Group's parent.

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or
obligations between the Group and a related party, regardless
of whether a price is charged.

Close family members of a person are those family members

who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that
person in their dealings with the entity.
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5.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s material accounting policy
information, which are described in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements, the directors are required to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

The following is the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S M5 R R M sE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Provision of ECL for financial assets measured at
amortised cost

Trade receivables with significant balances, trade receivables
classified as credit-impaired and all other financial assets
measured at amortised cost are assessed for ECL individually.

In addition, the Group uses practical expedient in estimating
ECL on trade receivables which are not assessed individually
using a provision matrix. The provision rates are based on
aging of debtors as groupings of various debtors taking into
consideration the Group’s historical default rates and forward-
looking information that is reasonable and supportable
available without undue costs or effort. At the end of each
reporting period, the historical observed default rates are
reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information
are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL are disclosed in note 6.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:

foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest

rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme

focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks

to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial

performance.

(a)

(b)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk
as most of its business transactions, assets and liabilities
are principally denominated in HK$, United States dollar
("USD") and Renminbi (“RMB") which are the functional
currencies of the principal operating entities of the Group.
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group monitors
its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arise.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade
receivables, loan receivables, deposits, other receivables
and bank balances. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit
risks associated with its financial assets, except for the
credit risks associated with loan receivables is mitigated
because they are secured by properties located in Hong
Kong. In order to minimise credit risk, the directors review
the recoverable amount of each individual debt regularly
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are recognised
for irrecoverable debts. In the regard, the directors
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S M5 R R M sE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6.

(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

Internal credit rating Description

WEBEE TR

Low risk

R B

Watch list

ERRE

Doubtful

Loss

1R

Write-off

vk

=REA

The counterparty has a low risk of default and does
not have any past-due amounts
HFEHFHNENRRE > B RAFAAEEE

Debtor frequently repays after due dates but
usually settle in full
BEBARBREPERREREQERHEN

There have been significant increases in credit risk
since initial recognition through information
developed internally or external resources

BB RIINBERPISERSNEERRS
YR FE SRR R IR IB 0

There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-
impaired

ERBETEECEERE

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery
EBHEEANEBABAREME MAERE
BEE G W EIRIE
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MBRERER @)

(b) EERBEKRBEE (&)

AEBNABEERRTIREET

HIEER -

Trade receivables

B 5 IR

Lifetime ECL —
(not credit-impaired)
ZHTEREERE -
(I \EERIE)

Lifetime ECL —
(not credit-impaired)
ZHTEREERE -
(I \EERIE)

Lifetime ECL —
(not credit-impaired)

ZHTEREERE -
(I \EERIE)
Lifetime ECL —
(credit-impaired)
ZHTEREERE -
(BEEEERE)

Amount is written off

R

Other financial assets

HthEmMEE

12m ECL

128 B FEHEEEE

12m ECL

128 B FEHEEEE

Lifetime ECL —
(not credit-impaired)

2 HATREAE EEGE—
(I |EE R IE)

Lifetime ECL —
(credit-impaired)

2 HATREAE EEGE—
(BELEEERB

Amount is written off

5 R £



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has certain
concentration of credit risk as 71% (2023: 81%) and
90% (2023: 81%) of trade receivables are due from
the largest customers and the five largest customers
respectively.

In addition, the Group performed impairment assessment
under ECL model on trade receivables based on
provision matrix equal to lifetime ECLs, except for trade
receivables with significant balances and those classified
as credit-impaired with the gross carrying amounts of
approximately HK$15,671,000 (2023: HK$26,482,000)
and HK$16,778,000 (2023: HK$11,093,000) that are
assessed individually for the year ended 30 June 2024
respectively. Trade receivables based on shared credit
risk characteristics by reference to repayment histories
for recurring customers. Impairment loss of HK$45,000
was reversed for the year ended 30 June 2024 (2023:
impairment loss reversal of HK$547,000).

MBERER @

(b) EERBERKBETE (&)

W E 5 hRmk

RBEHRR ARERE SRR+ E
71% (CE =% 1 81%) &90% (Z
T_=F:81%) DRARBKRAR
ERARERZHIE WAEBE KR
ETEEEFRR-

4 REBERZBEHREEHIEE
AERERRBEEFEREHREES
BN EETREERERE S RIETT
BE G R EARERIEIK
BSRARZENDEALBREER
ENEWESZRR (RMBEEZZ M
FARAB=+THLEFEM@BFHER
HWEDRILHBE15,671,0007T (=

T =4 . B126,482,0007T) KB
#16,778,0007c (ZE =4 : B
11,093,0007T) ) BRSM © FEUWL BB 53 BR =R
DRBELSBUERL ZERELR
BEHEREERRISEEE  RERE
BHEAS, 000 B EZZE ZIE N
B=Z1tHILEEEFUER (CE-=
F | Ol E R 1B B 15547,0007T) ©

FEER (%) BRAR —T_UEER 097



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S M5 R R M sE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6. HHBEIRERE &
(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) (b) EERAMEERBETG @)
Loan receivables KB
The directors estimate the estimated loss of loan EERBERNERBFEEHEL
receivables based on historical credit loss experience BUKRER AR EWREFIERIRNIE
of the debtors as well as the fair value of the collateral HRATEGERKERNGHETES
pledged by the debtors to the loan receivables. All of loan B-WRZEMFB=+H FE
receivables were classified as low risk (2023: low risk) FERREMRAESBEARAR (CTE22=
as at 30 June 2024 except for loan receivables with the FERR) > EARKREEANEE
gross carrying amounts of approximately HK$ 1,124,000 1,124,0007c (ZE 2 =4 : &) BIEUW
(2023: nil) was classified as loss. EMEDBAEE-
The movement of gross carrying amounts of loan FEWEM 2 REEZENT -
receivables is as follows:
Stage 1 Stage 3 Total
FIREER E3PEER Wt
HK'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
BT BT BT
As at 1 July 2022 R-B-—E+B—H 16,300 - 16,300
Amounts originated BELEE 6,785 - 6,785
Amounts repaid during FREEZEH
the year (10,085) - (10,085)
As at 30 June 2023 and RZEZ=F-A=+8k
as at 1 July 2023 A _E_=—F+H—H 13,000 - 13,000
Transfer from Stage HERREREEIRE
1 to Stage 3 (1,124) 1,124 -
Amounts originated BELEEE 5,019 - 5,019
Amounts repaid during FREEZEH
the year (5,895) - (5,895)
As at 30 June 2024 RZE-_mEAB=1+H 11,000 1,124 12,124
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Loan receivables (Continued)

Based on assessment by the directors, the exposure
at default for loan receivables, except for amounts of
approximately HK$1,124,000 (2023: nil), are classified
at low risk in view of the estimated realised amount
of disposal of the collaterals. The Group provided
impairment based on 12m ECL for those loan receivables
classified as low risk and lifetime ECL (credit-impaired)
for those loan receivables classified as loss. Impairment
loss of approximately HK$1,124,000 (2023: nil) was
recognised for the year ended 30 June 2024.

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the directors make
periodic individual assessment on the recoverability
of other receivables and deposits based on historical
settlement records, past experience, and also quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportive forward-looking information. The directors
believe that there are no significant increase in credit risk
of these amounts since initial recognition and the Group
provided impairment based on 12m ECL. No impairment
loss was recognised for the year ended 30 June 2024 and
2023.

MBERER @

(b) EERBEKBETE &)

BEWE (&)

RIREZWT(E > ERFIRIR R
ENGHSTIERERE BIKER (W
ABHN1,124,000c (ZE =5 | #)
ZRIERRIN) B RRIED BRI

Al RERENI2ERBHEER
ia (Mo BABRRZZERKER

ms) x2ABEHEEHE (BE4E
EERE) MoEABEZZERE
WERMS) stiRRERBRE REE
CECMENB=Z+tHILEEEDHE
SBERIRAIE11,124,0005T (ZF
By = S -3 I

HitERHBREE

MEMEBWRIERZEME EFE
RBFEELR BEEEEEER
BXRFMREEENNEERE M
Bikb B H M ERRIE R 2 & 89 7] IR
B4 ERRETER G- EEFHER
m%ﬁmuxaﬁﬁﬁmm = | Bz

%EHW:. F’i?guﬂmmﬁﬁkﬁ REZE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S M5 R R M sE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6.
(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Bank balances

The credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the
Group uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment
for its customers with common risk characteristics that
are representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all
amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms.
The following table provides information about the
exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which are
assessed based on provision matrix.

MBRRER @

(b) EERBEKRBETE (&)

RITHEF

HRRXSH A RBEREET RS
AEREEETRZIRTT > BIRITHE
FZEERBAR-

featEBZ EEAREEY B
AEEFBEBAZRBFEHA
AHERRBUZBE 2 HE 2%
BYMEURBE S RESNBERE
A EIRIAZ S TRABE
165 45 Do T 425 P U B R PR A B 2 45
BERZ B o

2024 2024
ZZIME  ZEIME
Average  Gross trade
lossrate  receivables

EWESR
Description B THEEE IRAE
HKS 000
BEFT
Current (not past due) e (R 0.28% 7,945

2024 2023 2023 2023
“E_ME | ZZ-=F _Z_=F _Z_ZEF
Impairment Average Gross trade Impairment

allowance loss rate receivables allowance
HERE | TOEBRX R RERE
HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$000
BEFT BT BT
22 3.05% 6,266 191
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR 5 R 75 IR R M 5E

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6.

(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL

MBRRERE @)

(b) EERBERBETG &

TRITERBEIEH EREIBZE

that has been recognised for trade receivables under WE ZERREATEREEHRENE
simplified approach: g :
Lifetime ECL (not Lifetime ECL
credit-impaired)  (credit-impaired) Total
2HRBEESE 2BEHEEHR
(RBELEERE) CEEEERE CH
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BEFT BEFr
As at 1 July 2022 RIE__F+tA—H 7,547 5,623 13,170
Impairment losses BRR,/ (BE) BEsE
recognised/(reversed) 465 (1,012) (547)
Transfer to lifetime ECL BRELHEREEER
(credit-impaired) (BEEEERE (6,482) 6,482 -
As at 30 June 2023 and RIZEZ=F/A=1+HK
as at 1July 2023 RZE-_=#tA—H 1,530 11,093 12,623
Impairment losses B/ (B0 REHE
recognised/(reversed) 112 (157) (45)
Transfer to lifetime ECL BRETLHBHESEE
(credit-impaired) BEEEERE) (1,491) 1,491 =
As at 30 June 2024 RZZE_MEAB=+H 151 12,427 12,578

FEER (%) BRAR —T_UEER /I 01



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S M5 R R M sE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The following table show reconciliation of loss allowance
of loan receivables under general approach:

As at 1 July 2022, as at 30 June 2023
and as at 1 July 2023
Impairment loss recognised

As at 30 June 2024

(c) Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements
in the short and longer term.
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RZZE_MEFEARA=1H

(9]

MBRRER @

(b) EERBEKRBETE (&)

TREIIZ—RIEESHNEKRER

MEBREEER

Lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired)
2 HATRHA
EEHBE
(BRE
EERE)
HK$°000
BT

B _HFtA-BA-RT_=F
ANAZ+HBERRZIZZ=FtA—H S
ERRRESE

1,124

1,124

MENE & AR

AEBZHREERERHRE
HAREBESME URRAEBET
THRNRTHBEUABCTHERRER

HRBESFENR-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4S A
b7z O =

B 75 3R 3R B 5E

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)

is as follows:

As at 30 June 2024

Trade and other
payables

Lease liabilities

As 3t 30 June 2023

Trade and other
payables

Lease liabilities

6. MBRAMEIE &
(o w"BEZERE @)
The maturity analysis based on contractual undiscounted AEBFTEETMEBEREORM
cash flows of the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities RIREMENERFER2TUT :
Less than Total
1 year Between Between undiscounted Carrying
or on demand Tand2years  2and 5 years cash flows amounts
D AERRE
HHEX 1526 2E5E MELE REE
HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000
BT BETr BETr BETr BETr
RZE_MERA=1H
RATE 7 REMER
9,813 - - 9,813 9813
HE&R 782 - - 782 762
10,595 - - 10,595 10,575
RZB_=F/ A=+H
85 REMER
9,118 = = 9,118 9,118
HEER 3171 782 - 3,953 3,702
12,289 782 S 13,071 12,820
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S M 5 IR M5

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

6.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(d)

(e)

U]

Interest rate risk

The Group's loan receivables and lease liabilities bear
interest at fixed interest rate and therefore is subject to
fair value interest rate risk.

The Group's exposure to interest rate risk arises from its
bank balances. These deposits bear interests at variable
rates that vary with the then prevailing market conditions.

Except as stated above, the Group has no other significant
interest-bearing assets and liabilities, the Group's
operating cash flows are substantially independent of
changes in market interest rates.

Categories of financial instruments

TREE !
BEH R A SHE

Financial assets:
At amortised cost

TRARE:
REIE A SHE

Financial liabilities:
At amortised cost

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
that are not measured at fair value on a recurring
basis

The directors considered that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recognised at
amortised cost in the consolidated statement of financial
position approximate to their fair values.

6.

MBRRER @

(d)

(e)

(f)

2= B

rEERKERREESERET
Pkt s AMEEAFEREE

a5 o
S

FEBZHRARKEHRTEZT
ZEERDUAHEXRAR LRE
iy 2 T 35 AR LM 7E °

Br EXXPRAIESN  REEERME
ANEEEKRER AERNKER

FEEZRERBEARNLEB IR D
SRR EEE) o

SR TEZEER

2024 2023

—EUE —E=

HK$000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

57,090 59,028

10,575 12,820

WIFUAAFEHERESEEREET
RZEMBEEREMEBRZATE

EERR RESHH R RRTIZE
HHAEIZEHEERERER
SREEEESBNATERSE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR 5 R 75 IR R M 5E

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

REVENUE 7. WA
2024 2023
HK$000 HK$°000
BT BT T
Revenue from contracts with customers &R 7R & 2 A E 1558
within the scope of HKFRS 15: HEANLKEELH
HHEUA :
Sales of swimwear and garment products  #& 7k 2 Kz AR 25 2 & 32,312 39,812
Sales of second hand mobile phones HE _FHBEBEHE 25,092 30,822
Revenue from contracts with customers R HE—BFRIZEREIRBE R AW
recognised at a point in time BEIWA 57,404 70,634
Revenue from other sources: BRI
Interest income from KEEEEHZFEUWA
money lending business 1,137 1,280
58,541 71,914

Transaction allocated to the remaining performance
obligation for contracts with customers

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph
121 of HKFRS 15 to its sales contract for goods that the Group
does not disclose information about revenue that the Group
will be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining performance
obligations under the sales contract for goods that had an
original expected duration of one year or less.

SEEFNFREFAVEBENEENRS

FEEEMERBEGNRBEAYH
BREERFISEBI21IRZITITEES
o REBTERBERRAERNENES
mZHESNETHR TEROEERAR
ERSRANER AR EREESH
MRAFAFERRR —FH U T o

szEm (2R AmAn —T-pees ] (D



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S M5 R R M sE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

8. OTHER INCOME

Bank interest income
Government grants (note)
Sundry income

Sale of scrap material

Net foreign exchange gains

Note:

Government grants were received as refund of value-added tax and export
duty. There were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to

these government grants.
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RITH B WA
B BN (Hfat)
FEIRUWTA
HERER

SN UL 2 7% BB

8. Hfthlkz

2024 2023
—E-mE -

HK$’000 HK$'000

BIETFT BIETT

317 14

1,302 1,880

1 57

33 43

514 =

2,167 1,994

B UWER BT Al B A 1 E AR K H O RAIR 2 3R K © 5%
FEHATREBN I B M ARE R IR AT R



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group determines its operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the executive directors, being the chief
operating decision maker (the “CODM"), for the purpose of
monitoring segment performance and allocating resources
between segments that are used to make strategic decisions.

The Group has three operating segments as follows:

Swimwear and — Manufacturing and trading
garment of swimwear and garment
products

E-Commerce and

E-Commerce and provision of on-
on-line shopping line shopping services
related

Money lending — Money lending business

The Group's reportable segments are strategic business units
that offer different products and services. They are managed
separately because each business requires different technology
and marketing strategies.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note
4 to the consolidated financial statements. Segment profits
or losses do not include certain other income and corporate
administrative. Segment assets do not include other assets
for general administrative use. Segment liabilities do not
include other liabilities for general administrative use. This is
the measure reported to the Group’s management for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.

DEER

FEERBATES XTEEERRE
(TEBEERRE))  RHEEIBERE

K 3 B o3 BB B R T 28 B A LA SR BS M

RRIVBEEELEDER

MDA EE=EEEDHED

K I AR - EEREHEXE
e AR E
BEFEBREL - BFEHR
Egyhsles RHEL
YIRS
&8 - BEED

AEEZTREDHHRETEAERR
BRRS REM BB MR SIEEBE
SRR 2 S5 R i 50 » ERL L 53 BB 17
B

KEDENE St RRE GRS HRERNW
SEAPT I BV A& B G 5T ECRAER - 72 2
M BRTAEEE THMER S kB
THRER -DEEEL A EEEMME—R
THRERZEE - DEREL N EEHEt
H—RITHRERZEE ZIEM b AEE
EEERRERANERD AL
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE M B mRMEE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. AHEN @)
E-Commerce
Swimwear and on-line
and shopping Money
garment related lending Total
EFmHER
KERARE B LEEYER a8 i
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
BEFT BEFT BETFT BEFT
Year ended 30 June 2024 BE_Z_ME
~NBZHHLEEE
Revenue from external customers  REINREE Z A 32,312 25,092 1,137 58,541
Segment profit/(loss) DEbER/ (518 4,178 (1,703) 245 2,720
Amounts included in the SIADEER (F5#R) &

measure of segment profit/ PHEEFEZ L
(loss) or segment assets

Bank interest income RITHIEWA 8) = (306) (314)
Finance cost FIEERA 200 33 - 233
Depreciation of property, ME-BERREITE

plant and equipment 699 - - 699
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEENE 677 306 - 983
Impairment loss (reversed)/ BHEEEBEAETH

recognised under expected (B#E) /

credit losses model, net BHRDAESRPE (157) 112 1,124 1,079
As at 30 June 2024 RZZ2_NFEAA=1H
Segment assets NEEE 7,253 28,856 23,015 59,124
Segment liabilities VaR-0=C 26,681 1,094 3 27,778
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR 5 R 75 IR R M 5E

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Year ended 30 June 2023

Revenue from external customers

Segment profit/(loss)

Amounts included in the measure
of segment profit/loss) or
segment assets

Bank interest income

Finance cost

Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Impairment loss reversed under
expected credit losses model

Additions to
non-current assets (note)

As at 30 June 2023
Segment assets
Segment liabilities

BE_Z_=F
ANEZTHLEERE

REHNRERZHA
DEER/ (518)

FIAD BGRB8 2
PEEEFEZEH

RTHSHRA
MBmA
WE BERREBHE

FREBEERE
BHEERREAETH
EERHESE
REFRBEE (1)

RIZE-=F,A=1+H
NHWEE
NHEaE

9. DEPEH @)

E-Commerce
Swimwear and on-line
and shopping Money
garment related lending Total
BFHHR ‘
KERBRE  ALBEYERE &8 a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT EETFr BT BT
39,812 30,822 1,280 71,914
4,138 (1,532) 260 2,866
(14) - - (14)
527 10 53 590
558 - - 558
704 315 - 1,019
(26) (521) - (547)
988 613 - 1,601
15,766 30,326 15,993 62,085
28,102 1,391 4 29,497
Mzt BEAEME BRERZEBEUREHES

Note: Included additions to property, plant and equipment and right-of-

use assets.

Eo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S M5 R R M sE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

€).

Reconciliations of segment profit or loss:

Total profit or loss of reportable segments

Unallocated amounts:
Other income
Administrative expenses

Consolidated loss before tax

RIS D E R m AR (E
ROFCEER -
H e
THER

BRIRAIAR S B 1R

Reconciliations of segment assets and liabilities:

Assets

Total assets of reportable segments

Interest in an associate
Unallocated corporate assets

Consolidated total assets

Liabilities

Total liabilities of reportable segments

Unallocated corporate liabilities

Consolidated total liabilities

BE

AR EDMEEME
R—HEBE AT 2 Em
RO ABEE

=R
Al SN EEERE
RPERBER
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DEER )
DERIETE 2 HER -
2024 2023
—EUE —E=
HK$'000 HK$'000
EEFT BT T
2,720 2,866
3 —
(3,969) (4,529)
(1,246) (1,663)
NHEEREBBEZHIR:
2024 2023
—EME —E=
HK$000 HK$'000
BT BT T
59,124 62,085
1,703 2,414
60,827 64,499
27,778 29,497
1,822 2,219
29,600 31,716




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR 5 R 75 IR R M 5E

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Geographical information:

9. SWEH @

The Group's revenue from external customers by location of

the customers and information about its non-current assets by

location of assets are detailed below:

Hong Kong (place of
domicile)
PRC (exclude
Hong Kong and Macau)
United States of America
The United Kingdom
of Great Britain and
Northern Ireland
The Netherlands
Italy
France
Israel

Total

&8 GEftE)

FE (FBESERREM)

%%Ug &R

ARFEBRIGERBHS
TE

IR

BEAH

HE

K&

4 2

Sy E“_

MEHK

FEBERBINABTRZIBA BEFHE
D) REBMEIFRBEES K REEM
&9 fm) ST

Revenue Non-current assets
A FREEE

2024 2023 2024 2023
“EImE ZBIZF “EImE ZEICF
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$ 000
BT EETT ERTT EETT
6,944 1,423 533 1,349
19,730 30,822 1,076 2,030
- 6,567 - -
26,019 28,897 - -
4,042 1,712 - -
1,533 1,715 - -
- 176 - -
273 602 - -
58,541 71914 1,609 3,379

FEER (%) BRAR

—z-meen ]



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S M5 R R M sE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9.

Revenue from major customers:

Swimwear and garment segment TKEE Bz AR 4k 70 B
Customer A ERA

E-Commerce and on-line shopping BFEBRELEYD
related segment iElEabaRsil
Customer B = FB

Except for disclosed above, no other customers contributed
10% or more to the Group's revenue for both years.

AEEM @)
RKEFEERZIBA:
2024 2023
“EmE =
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT EIEF T
26,019 28,909
19,730 26,533

PREXFrIREEN  WEAMEZERNZS
W AEFEHAEBRWATIN0%I L
Fo

10. FINANCE COSTS

Interest on lease liabilities
Interest on loan from
a substantial shareholder

HE&ERNE
RETERRZERFE

10. BA#E Rk s
2024 2023
—ETMFE B = =
HK$°000 HK$'000
BIEFT BT
233 537
- 53
233 590
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR 5 R 75 IR R M 5E

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Current tax:
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax

BIHERATRIA !
—FRB 2RI

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of the Hong
Kong Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the
qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HK$2 million are taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime are taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The directors considered the amount involved upon
implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of
the Hong Kong Profits Tax as insignificant to the consolidated
financial statements. Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at
16.5% of the estimated assessable profit for both years.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

According to the EIT Law and the Implementation Regulation
of the EIT Law of the PRC, an entity eligible as a Small Low-
profit Enterprise is subject to preferential tax treatments. From
1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021, the annual taxable
income not more than RMB1,000,000 of a Small Low-profit
Enterprise is subject to Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) calculated
at 12.5% of its taxable income at a tax rate of 20%. From
1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022, the annual taxable
income not more than RMB1,000,000 of a Small Low-profit
Enterprise is subject to EIT calculated at 12.5% of its taxable
income at a tax rate of 20% and the annual taxable income
between RMB1,000,000 and RMB3,000,000 is calculated
at 25% of its taxable income at a tax rate of 20%. From
1 January 2023 to 31 December 2024, the annual taxable
income not more than RMB3,000,000 of a Small Low-profit
Enterprise is subject to EIT calculated at 25% of its taxable
income at a tax rate of 20%.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for both
years as the Group has no assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong.

1. FRISMREX

2024 2023
—EME —EEE
HK$000 HK$'000
BT BT T
17 18

R E AR 1S 10 B 4R R G IR R 6=
CEREEERENE B 2B ER
128.25% IR K EM > MBABE2HE T
Y F]4216.5%BI I REIR o AT 5 W Ak
FIAGEREGEER 2 EBER ZEF
BB IRE — T ZE16.5% MR IR

EERN BREBANERIMMRFIFGE
MEFIEFS RN ERH N IES MR
RKMEMAEE - MEFENEEFER
R SHERIENAY16.5%5tE -

BERBEEFEMRERZE (RERERZE)
RIEFEFFREBMIFA > PEMNEAS
B FEZ R EIT7325% °

BB EMESRIAKREEMESRE
BHER e/ N EMACEERNEEE
EEERKGEBE N _Z_—F—H—
HEZZE-—+="8B=+—8 /) E#H
FMEEZFERFRBATABAAR
#1,000,0007cHIER 10 B H FEERFR WA
BI12.5%IEMEK20% st H L EFRER (T
2EMR) RN_E-__F—F—HZ=
B H#+ZRA=+—8 " /NEHF
TEZEEERERIADRTBE AR
1,000,0007c I ER 10 B E FER TR I A BY
12.5% IR E20% st EEEFERAEE
FESRM UL A A AR #£1,000,000cE AR
#3,000,0007C A 2B 19 7B HFESR IR UL A
BI25% IR E20% st B B HEFFERHR o A
T _=—F—HA—BE_E_MWME+AH
=+—HB/NEMA T FEERRU
AFRREHEAREE3,000,0007THI SR D B
ThEERIRUINABI25%IZIRK20% st E
E

MR TEENMEFESERNEEEL
E%ﬁﬁfﬁ?ﬁu B R AR BB SR &

wzER (2% AWaE —Tomesn | ] O



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S M 5 IR M5

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

11.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The reconciliation between the income tax expense and the
product of loss before tax multiplied by the Hong Kong Profits

1. FIEMRHEX @)

TNIBFA SR BERK A EER T
BHEREMERBZHIR

Tax rate is as follows:

Loss before tax

Tax at the Hong Kong Profits Tax rate
of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%)

Tax effect of income that is not taxable

Tax effect of expenses that are not
deductible

Tax effect of estimated tax losses not
recognised

Tax effect of utilisation of estimated tax
losses previously not recognised

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries
operating in other jurisdictions

Effect of tax concessions

Income tax expense

2024 2023
—E-WmE B =
HK$°000 HK$'000
EBEFT BT
PRI AT IR (1,246) (1,663)
BEBHERE16.5%
TE T =fF:165%)

FEZRIE (206) (274)
BEFRBAZREZE (209) (203)
FaINRFESZ 2 ME &

944 418
KRR LERIESBE

MEEE 139 985
A LR AR T IRIE

BB E (537) (990)
R E MBI A R & A8 = 275589

BRBABMEZFZE 78 82
MBEEREZEE (192) -
FriSMfs 17 18

REBESHAR AEBZ G5 RERA
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At the end of the reporting period, the Group has estimated
unrecognised tax losses of approximately HK$118,679,000
(2023: HK$121,091,000) available for offset against future
profits and are subject to the approval of the respective tax
authorities. No deferred tax asset has been recognised due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in
unrecognised tax losses are no losses (2023: HK$243,000) that
related to PRC Enterprise Income Tax will be expired within 5
years. Other tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

HIEHEARGEFN Z2RBEEEOR B

#118,679,000c (ZTE_=F . B

121,091,0007T) > 1BZE1S FI 48 REFR 75 1% BE

HEE o RS EUATEST R AR T M F
RIRERIBE E o R MR TBRS 18 1

BIEAPECEMESRABRANEEEE

WEIFRZ 518 (TS T =4 : B1&243,000
7T) c HhiR 1B 18 n] PR HAAE 5 o



12.

13.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR 5 R 75 IR R M 5E

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

The Group's loss for the year is stated after charging/(crediting)

the following:

Auditor’s remuneration for audit services
Cost of inventories sold (including in cost
of sales and service rendered)
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Expenses related to short-term leases
Impairment losses (reversed)/recognised
under expected credit losses model:
— trade receivables
— loan receivables
Net foreign exchange (gains)/losses

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE

Salaries and allowances

Discretionary bonuses

Retirement benefit schemes
contributions

There was no forfeiture of retirement benefit schemes

contributions for both years.

12. FAREE

B :

ZEENE LR N =

BEHETFERE GtAHER
PR (H AR TS BV Y )

ME BB RRFEITE

ERREEITE
BIEHAEEERZAX
BHEEBEEENIETH

(BEE) EHEDAERSSE !

— B & ZERX
—EWE™R
SNEE (R zk) BS54 P ER

REBZ FRBERENR GTA) T8

13. EEREFIRAX

e /R EL
EBTEAT
RIREF] 5B R

2024 2023
—EZWmE S

HK$°000 HK$'000

EIETFr BT T

538 480

32,432 40,767

699 558

983 1,019

49 335

(45) (547)

1,124 -

(514) 415

2024 2023
—2m4F S

HK$°000 HK$'000

AT BT T

10,978 12,325

604 508

1,785 1,815

13,367 14,648

B W 18 F 30 5 R WUR B 58 R

wEER (2R) AWAR —Topess | | D



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S M5 R R M sE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

13. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (Continued)
(a) Pensions-defined contribution plans

Contribution totalling approximately HK$14,802,000
(2023: HK$14,576,000) were payable to employees for
the year ended 30 June 2024.

(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the
year included 1 (2023: 1) director whose emoluments
are reflected in the analysis presented in note 14. The
emoluments of the remaining 4 (2023: 4) individuals are
set out below:

Salaries and allowances Ei e
Discretionary bonuses FIBTEAL
Retirement benefit schemes RIRER BN

contributions
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13. EEEFHRX @)

(a)

(b)

BIAE—EERERETE

é‘ki_v_mﬁ/\ﬁ +H &
E EBNEEHEREBENABLE
14,802,0007T (_7__¢ B g
14,576,0007T) ©

IaREHMAL

RAFE AEBLRERSHIMAL
BE—REFE (CE=F 1 —4%)
HM = 2R WE14PR 25 Z DM
[Rbge HexP% (T =4 : [04)
ANTZF BN AT

2024 2023
—EMF B2 =

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T B For

1,678 1,812

270 140

35 69

1,983 2,021




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

13. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (Continued)
(b) Five highest paid individuals (Continued)

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

13. EERFBEX @
(b) EHBEHFMAL @)
ERAFFMNEB LT EHEE :

Number of individual

ANE
2024 2023
—“E-UFE ==
Nil to HK$1,000,000 2= A 11,000,0007T 4 4

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of five
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office
for both years. None of five highest paid individuals
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments for both
years.

14. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

(a) Directors’ and chief executive officer's emoluments

The remuneration of the directors and chief executive
officer is set out below:

K%lRM#ﬁﬁﬁfﬁﬂﬁﬁ%
= #7 BN A I R A R A S A AE o] B
@u@%%%ﬁ%%l$$@ﬁm
MARZ B ERREBMEE - I h
REmMALBHERZSWEFE
BEIREREREAME-

14, EERITHAEHEZ A EmRER

(a) EFERITHABRZ M
EERTHBHZFHFMEIIWT

Retirement benefit
Fees Salaries and allowances Discretiona;y bonuses schemes contribution ToEaI
[k HEREM BARERI IR @t
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
IECME | ZC=F | IBCME | ZSC=F |IBRCME | ZSC=F | IBCME | ZSCT=F | IBCME | ZSC°=F
HKS000 HK$000 HKS$000 HK$ 000 HKS'000 HK$000 HKS$000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$000
BT | BETn | BEFrm | BETo | BMFm | EETa | BEFm | BETa | BEFm | EETa
Executive directors BWES
Chan Hiu Kwan o35
(Chief executive officer) (A8 %) = - 1,236 1,218 926 476 18 18 2,180 1,712
Lau Chun Fat, George e - - - - - - - - - -
- - 1,236 1,218 926 476 18 18 2,180 1,712
Independent non- BuFRTES
executive directors
Fung Chan Man, Alex B 9% 9% - - - - - - 96 %
Tam Wing Kin EERE 96 9% - - - - - - 96 9%
Lee Chung Mong, John ~ F&% 96 96 - - - - - - 96 9%
288 288 - - - - - - 288 288
288 288 1,236 1218 926 476 18 18 2,468 2,000

FEER (%) BRAR

—z=meen ]/



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S M 5 IR M5

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

14. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER (Continued)

(a)

(b)
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Directors’ and chief executive officer's emoluments
(Continued)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services in connection with the management of
the affairs of the Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were for their services as directors of the
Company.

Ms. Chan Hiu Kwan is also the chief executive officer of
the Group and her emoluments disclosed above include
those for services rendered by her as the chief executive
officer.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors
and chief executive officer as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office for both years. None of the directors and chief
executive officer has waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments for both years.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements and contracts

Except for disclosed in note 35, no other significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to
the Group’s business to which the Company was a party
and in which a director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the reporting
period or at any time during the year.

14. EERITHRABRZ A mRiEs (@)

(a)

(b)

EFERTHAEZHM (2

EXFRRTEENHFWNEZ S R
REMEEARTARAEEEEM
RMHBIARTS

EXFRBIFRITEENHIMNE
EHIRREGR/ELRTDEETMEM
BYARTS ©

PREEHU LT RAERZTHMES
BN EXPRIIREZMEBEEEFES
TEAB SR (AR TS < Bl < -

FEERMEEFERERAEE T
BRI NME (FABBRIMA
REBHRMAEEEFIER N
ERBERAE-FMEFEREES
R AT BB £ TN FE B R B R R A
I B <& o

EENRZ RHRENRZEKF

m

PREYSE3SFAIEEE TN R AT BEST
VRAREREXEBAERAARESTRAER
ERyEEEAEARGENRSE
RN AFERAFENERZH
MERRF R REGH



15.

16.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders
of the Company during 2024, nor has any dividend been
proposed since the end of the reporting period (2023: nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share attributable to owners
of the Company is based on the loss for the year attributable
to owners of the Company of approximately HK$1,196,000
(2023: HK$1,482,000) and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 799,230,000 (2023: 792,745,000) in issue
for the year ended 30 June 2024.

Diluted loss per share

The exercise of the Group’s outstanding convertible non-voting
preference shares would be anti-dilutive for both years. Diluted
loss per share was the same as the basic loss per share for both
years.

15.

16.

[:35)

KRABR _E_NEET HEELZERKRK
HREZESEDRERE > B IR EHIR LR TR
FEREBEMKRE CE_=F:18) o

BikEE
BREXHE

KRB EBEANEBLEREREIBLIRE
AABBEEABHZERNEBIENBE
1,196,0007¢ (ZZ =4 : /811,482,000

T) MREBE_ZE_MENAB=1TH
FTFEFEET2EERZMEFHH
799,230,0008% (ZZ Z =4 : 792,745,000
2) =K

SR#BEHIE

RZEMEFE TEAEEZHARITE
AMREREREARGAEAERBEE
B-RZEMEFE Sh#§HRES
QB 5 1 AE[R] ©

wzER (20 smas —T-meen | 19



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S M5 R R M sE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Cost:
Asat 1 July 2022
Additions

As at 30 June 2023 and
as at 1 July 2023
Disposal

As at 30 June 2024

Accumulated depreciation
and impairment:

Asat 1 July 2022

Charged for the year

As at 30 June 2023 and

asat 1 July 2023
Charged for the year
Disposal

As at 30 June 2024

Carrying amounts:
As at 30 June 2024

As at 30 June 2023

%4
F:v::ﬁtﬁ—ﬁ
//J\\ %

RIEZ=F,A=1H
ER-ZE-=F+E—H
HeE

A -MEARB=1H
SR TERRE
RZZ-__F#+tA—H
FRIR
RIE_=F,A=+H
RRZE-_=FtB—H
FRIDR
HE

RIZE_MEARA=1+H

BRTEME .
RZE_MEAA=1H

RIBE_=F,A=+H

17. ME-BERRZE

Furniture,
fixture
Leasehold and office Motor

improvement equipment vehicles Total

B-EER
HEMERRE MAERME RE e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BT
3,792 1,063 2,236 7,091
- 103 885 988
3,792 1,166 3,121 8,079
- - (183) (183)
3,792 1,166 2,938 7,896
2,787 1,012 1,961 5,760
303 40 215 558
3,090 1,052 2,176 6,318
290 44 365 699
- - (97) (97)
3,380 1,096 2,444 6,920
412 70 494 976
702 114 945 1,761
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Cost:

As at 1 July 2022
Additions

Termination of lease
Exchange realignment

As at 30 June 2023 and as at 1 July 2023

Exchange realignment

As at 30 June 2024

Accumulated depreciation and impairment:

As at 1 July 2022
Charged for the year
Termination of lease
Exchange realignment

As at 30 June 2023 and as at 1 July 2023

Charged for the year
Exchange realignment

As at 30 June 2024

Carrying amounts:
As at 30 June 2024

As at 30 June 2023

AR S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

18. FHEELE

B :
N_ZE"FtHA—H
R"E

wIEFE

B %

AN — 5= —

\—7——ﬂ5/\ﬁ +E}§Z

RN _E_=F+tHA—H
(E R AR

A — 5=

\—V—Eﬁi/\ﬁ +E

REtTERRIE :

N "HFtHA—H
FEARIR

HmIEFRE

E A%

A — = —

\—7——&/\% +E)§Z

A — 5 —
R—=—

F AR
R

=FtHA—H

AN — 5=

\—V—IEQE/\E —|—E

AREME :

AT T

TE_MFESRAZ=1+H

b_/\\—v——ﬁi/\ﬁ +E|

Leased
properties
HEME
HK$°000
BT

4,295
613
(632)
(281)

3,995

(18)

3,977

2,157

1,019

(632)
(167)

2,377
983
(16)

3,344

633

1,618

FEER (28 AMAE —T-mesn | O ]



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S M5 R R M sE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

The Group leases various offices for its operations. Lease
agreements are typically made for fixed periods ranging from
2 to 4 years for both years. Lease terms are negotiated on an
individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms
and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing
the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies
the definition of a contract and determines the period for
which the contract is enforceable. The lease agreements do
not impose any covenants and the leased assets may not be
used as security for borrowing purposes.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for offices.

In addition to the portfolio of short-term leases which are
regularly entered into by the Group, the Group entered into
several short-term leases for office during the year ended
30 June 2024. As at 30 June 2024, the outstanding lease
commitments relating to short-term leases is approximately
HK$36,000 (2023: HK$50,000).

The total cash outflow for leases amounted to approximately
HK$1,251,000 (2023: HK$1,809,000) for the year ended 30
June 2024.
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18. FHHESE @)

AEEEEZEMAEHAEEEZA-
w81 F 2 A8 & 175 5% BY [E] & HA PR — AR /7
FR-_ZEMF - RERNEEEEHE
B WEEF—RITEERRRME - EE
TE 78 HA e 51 A A BT 48 85 HA 75 B9 A PR s »
FEEBAANNERREEGHN R
HIITBIHARR o I S B A B 173 52 b 0121
R MEBEEBEEFSBFERBARNIE
i

NEBETHRMAETURHPHEE

BT AEBTEHI UNEHEAEAESIN
AEEREE_S-_NEB=1+H1
FEARPAETULBERPRAN N
ETOMENRA=1H BISHHAEEREN
FEBHEREL R ABE36,000T (CZF
=4 . /8¥50,0007T) °

HE_Z_NEA=+HLEE-BE
ZIRERHABEEA A B 11,251,0007T (Z
= =4 . %H1,809,0007T) ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR 5 R 75 IR R M 5E

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

19. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

Unlisted investment at cost
Share of post-acquisition profit

Detail of the Group'’s associate is as follows:

Place of
Name of entity incorporation
ERLE R L3R
Bonjour Advance Limited  Hong Kong
&8

The associate is accounted for using the equity method in the

19. R—RBE AT ZER

2024 2023
—E_mE =
HK$’000 HK$°000
EETFT BT T
B AStBZIFLETRE —* -
DU EE R R A —* =
FEEBRERT ZFHFUNT
Principal of Proportion of Proportion of voting rights
place of business ownership interest held by the Group Principal activity
TEEFRZ
FTEERME FAERZBENLT RERZBENLL FERH
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZENE | ZZ°CF (ZTIEE | Z22=F
Hong Kong 20% N/A 20% N/A  Inactive
&8 TER TER &EEX
RZEMFEARB=+H BERTER
Bo izl 2SR HBRRARK

consolidated financial statements as at 30 June 2024.

*  less than HK$ 1,000

* RGBT, 0007T

FEER (20 BWAE —Tomesn | 2O



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S M 5 IR M5

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE
20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 20. RMIBABZIRE

Particulars of the subsidiaries at the end of each reporting RERSHAFR WELABZFBEAOT -

period are as follows:

Place/country of Particular of
incorporation/ issued share capital/ Proportion of voting
registration registered capital/ Proportion of ownership interests power held by
Name and operation paid up capital held by the Company the Company Principal activities
SEM AR,
BiRkE BRTRE/FRES/ TRAFAFEZ
i HE/BX HRBRAFEE FARRAEZAMERZERL REEZEDL TEEH
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZEZCQEE —B-= ZENE ZZ°=F
Direct Indirect Direct Indirect
Hi# S HE ik
Easy Time Trading Limited ~ British Virgin 1 ordinary share of USD1 100% - 100% - 100% 100% Investment holding
Islands
("BVI")
Easy Time Trading Limited ~ HEBRZEE RIZFTZEER BEER
(IEER%
HE))
Synergy Chain Limited BVI 1 ordinary share of USD1 100% - 100% - 100% 100% Investment holding
Synergy Chain Limited EERYHS RIET 2 BER REER
Luxey International (Hong ~ Hong Kong 10,000 ordinary shares 100% - 100% - 100% 100% Investment holding and
Kong) Limited trading
BZER BB BRAE &E 10,0008 B8 REERKES
Luxey International Group ~ Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares 100% - 100% - 100% 100% Microfinance business
Limited
EZEREEARAT &# 10082 BB INEREEB
Habille Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share 100% - 100% - 100% 100% Inactive
Habille Limited B REER me
Luxey Online Solution BVI 100 ordinary shares of - 100% - 100% 100% 100% E-Commerce and
Limited USD1each provision of on-line
shopping services
B LERARAT HBRLHE 100 EREEIZTZ BY BB RRHEEL
BER BUWRS
Ratio Knitting Factory Hong Kong 500,000 ordinary shares - 100% - 100% 100% 100% Investment holding
Limited (“Ratio”) and trading of high-
end swimwear and
related garment
products
RBBERBRAR & 500,000 & &% REERKERSR
(T7I#81) KR AR R AR
Efm
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. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Name

Ricotex Industrial Company
Limited (“Ricotex”)

HEENKARA (7
=)
Ricotex Industrial Co., Ltd.

Ricotex Industrial Co., Ltd.

Luxey Vision Company
Limited
BERARBRAA
Yofiel International Group
Limited
ZEERERBRAR
Nice Sky (China) Limited
X (hE) BRAS
Global Post E-Commerce
Trading Limited*
(“Global Post")
hﬂ*%%%(ﬂWﬁE
A8 (MRH))

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAI. STATEMENTS

Place/country of
incorporation/
registration

and operation
SR AR
BikEE
e, /AR

Hong Kong

&%

Cambodia

ERCES
Hong Kong

&%
Hong Kong

&%
Hong Kong
&%
PRC

HE

Particular of

issued share capital/
registered capital/
paid up capital

BEfIksHARES/
BRRAFE

10,000 ordinary shares

10,0008 &A%
Registered capital of
USD1,000,000/paid up
capital of USD1,000,000
SMEA1,000,000%7T,/
BRI A1,000,000E7T

100 ordinary shares

100 Z B
10,000 ordinary shares

10,0008% &A%
3,000,000 ordinary shares
3,000,000/ &A%
Registered capital of
RMBA4,000,000/paid up
capital of RMB4,000,000
HBEAARE
4,000,0007T,/
EHEREARE
4,000,0007T

nv'F

BB mRME

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

20. RMBARIZIRE (@

Proportion of ownership interests

held by the Company
AARRAZMARZERL
2024 2023
ZEINE St
Direct Indirect Direct Indirect
B ik BE k3
- 50% - 50%
- 50% - 50%
- 100% - 100%
- 100% - 100%
- 50% - 50%
- 100% - 100%

FEER (%) BRAR

Proportion of voting

power held by
the Company
SRAFARFEZ
REEZEDL
2024 2023
“BCmECB=F
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%

Principal activities

TEEE

Investment holding and
trading of garment
products and
swimwear

REERKEERSE
Emkiki

Inactive

Inactive

Inactive

Inactive

Inactive

HT
i3
e

“ZE_FEFR II 25



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S M 5 IR M5

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 20. RMBARZIRE &

Place/country of Particular of
incorporation/ issued share capital/ Proportion of voting
registration registered capital/ Proportion of ownership interests power held by
Name and operation paid up capital held by the Company the Company Principal activities
SEMR AR
BiRkE BRTRE/FRES/ TRAFAFEZ
e HE/BX HRBRAFEE AARRAZARARZERL RREZASLL TEEH
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZZCQmE = ZENE ZZ2=HF
Direct Indirect Direct Indirect
Ef L k3
TIFImEHHARKER  PRC Registered capital of - 100% = 100% 100% 100%  Inactive
AR (I HK$9,500,000/paid up
capital of HK$8,100,000
IMTERHBRKER FE AMERBE e
AT (TIFIHE5)) 9,500,00077,/
BHRRAR
7 18,100,0007T
RENERKBRAT PRC Registered capital of - 100% - 100% 100% 100%  Manufacturing and
("RERE") HK$8,000,000/paid up trading of high-

capital of HK$8,000,000

BRAERKERAT  FE HMEABY
(TR=F4E) 8,000,0007T,/
BRERABEK

8,000,0007%

* The English name of this company represents management'’s best
efforts in translating the Chinese name of this company as no
English name has been registered.

Global Post, T PIM &%, EFEF) 4 are wholly-owned foreign
enterprises established in the PRC.

None of the subsidiaries had debt securities outstanding at
the end of the reporting period or at any time during the year
(2023: nil).

Except for Ricotex, the directors consider that the Group’s NCI
were insignificant to the Group and thus are not separately
presented in these financial statements for both years. In
addition, no separate financial information of these non-
wholly owned subsidiaries is required to be presented.

The following table shows information of subsidiaries that
have NCI material to the Group. The summarised financial
information represents amounts before inter-company
eliminations.
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end swimwear and
related garment
products
LERBERKE
MUREAREER

* AR RENEEHEMEX SR KU A E]
ZEXEEREEBBERRALZNEAHFX
2 BB

RERVIPITH &40 s REF ETH I R AL
YZINEBERE-

PR EHABIR SN A EEE AR &
WEAREAERREEEHKES (CTF
=& ) o

RRIEES EERARER T R
HEHARELTEA FILLERZER
AEENHERERBI LTtk =
BRIEEFRENBAD BTN
Hito

TRETWBRARZER  HEER 2 IFE
REDHFTEBMESBEKR - MHERB
2TyATBHRHRIA TR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Name

Principal place of business/place of
incorporation

% of ownership interests/voting rights
held by NCI

As at 30 June:
Non-current assets
Current assets
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities

Net liabilities

NCI

AR S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

2y

TEREEME Mt

FFIERERFIFAZ
AL REEBE DT

WARB=+8:
EREBEE
REEE
FEREAE
REas

BEFE

FFER S

20. RMBARIZIRE (@

Ricotex
fEE
2024 2023
—ETME —E=

= —_—< —=

Hong Kong/Hong Kong

&8 BA
50%/0% 50%/0%
2024 2023

—EMF ==

HK$000 HK$°000
BT B F T
552 553
(95) (95)
(40,413) (40,280)
(39,956) (39,822)
(19,978) (19,911)

wEER (28 AMaE —s-mesn | 2/



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S M 5 IR M5

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

21.

Year ended 30 June:

Revenue

Loss for the year

Total comprehensive expense for the year

Loss and total comprehensive expense
attributable to NCI

Dividend paid to NCI

Net cash used in operating activities

Net cash outflow

INVENTORIES

Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods

BESA=+tHLEFE:
WEA
FARIE
FALEMAZEEE
FFIER BN
BEEkEEMEE
SN FIRERERZRE
KE RS RS P

REME B

21. 78

JRFA
M
Bplm
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20. RIMBARZIRE (@)

2024 2023
—E_F —E°=

HK$000 HK$'000

EEFT BT T

(134) (398)

(134) (398)

(67) (199)

(1) (M

(1) )

2024 2023

—EE —E=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

BEFT BT T

715 823

655 462

758 807

2,128 2,092




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables from contracts with
customers
Less: allowance for credit losses

Trade receivables, net of allowance for
credit losses

Prepayment and deposits

Other receivables

AR S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

22. BN E 5 R E AR

REEREHNZ
R B 5 8RR
L EERIRERE

PR B 5 8RR

TR EEBIRERA
AR g E
HAb WA

As at 1 July 2022, trade receivables from contracts with

customers (before allowance for credit losses) amounted to

approximately HK$44,645,000.

The Group's trading terms with customers are mainly on

credit. The maximum credit terms granted to customers up

to 180 days. Each customer has a maximum credit limit. For

new customers, payment in advance is normally required. The

Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding

receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by the

directors.

2024 2023
k=S 11 = = =

HK$°000 HK$'000
BEFT B MEF T
40,394 43,841
(12,578) (12,623)
27,816 31,218
1,091 1,348

145 223

29,052 32,789

A TECTEFEEtA—H KRBERSHZ
FEUN B Z IR X OB E BB EER) AL
B E44,645,0007T ©

FERREFENEZHRRUEERE -
RYIERPZERBEENR/RZI80K.
UERHREEEERBE - MEABEA
BEMR - FEBR IR ERHERER
FEWRIBZ BB IERl - EFEHER B

j:A/\
fhERo

wEER (2% AWAE —Tonssn | 29



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S M5 R R M sE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The aging analysis of trade receivables, based on earlier of the
invoice date or revenue recognition date, and net of allowance
for credit losses, is as follows:

0 - 30 days 0%F30k
31-90 days 31REIOKR
91 - 180 days 91 KRE180K
Over 180 days BiE180K

Trade receivables with carrying amounts of approximately
HK$13,586,000 (2023: HK$13,447,000) (net of allowance
for credit losses) were past due at the end of the reporting
period. As at 30 June 2024, trade receivables with the gross
carrying amounts of approximately HK$16,778,000 (2023:
HK$11,093,000) were past due more than 90 days and
among those amounts, approximately HK$12,497,000 (2023:
approximately HK$11,093,000) were impaired. The Group
does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 6.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other
receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

HK$ Bk
usb =TT
Euro BRIT
RMB AR
Total 4B7E
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22. R E 5 REMIRRR (&

REDAMNWARERBE UREES
) StZ W B ZRRINREEERER
ZAREQ AT -

2024 2023
—E_MF 2=

HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T B For
4,507 7,093
4,626 4,705
5,097 5,973
13,586 13,447
27,816 31,218

BREELE13,586,000 0 (ZB =
£ B1813,447,00070) (OB EEEE
BE 2EBREZERFINBESHRER
B -MRZEZWMENB=1+H #Km@
B4 HE116,778,000c (ZE =4 .
HM11,093,0007T) zfu&%%ﬁﬁﬂe
BEAOOK UL £ > ﬁ\?.Z:—CﬁT\IEEP’ 8B
112,497,000 (ZCE = : 4B
11,093,00070) B IR EE o 7 & & M Rt
ZEEREE T MIRRR-

BTG Z5F BRI 5E6

rEEZERRE S REMERRZREE
LIRS E%EtHE -

2024 2023
“EmE ==

HK$°000 HK$°000

EETFT AT T

25,874 27,068

129 2,453

2,506 2,623

543 645

29,052 32,789




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

23. LOAN RECEIVABLES

TERBWREEFF

Fixed rate secured loan receivables
within 1 year
Less: allowance for credit losses

L EERIRERE

The interest rate was ranging from 6.0% to 10.0% as at 30
June 2024 (2023: ranging from 6.0% to 10.0%,).

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
loans receivable to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by management.

As at 30 June 2024 and 2023, all of loan receivables were
pledged by properties owned by the borrowers as collaterals
(the “pledged properties”).

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Group took
possession of one of the pledged properties in order to
recover the outstanding receivables balance of HK$3,500,000.
The Group has put up such properties for sale with a net
consideration of HK$2,376,000. Legal actions have been
initiated for the remaining outstanding loan balance of
HK$1,124,000 after the disposal of pledged properties and
the remaining balance was classified as lifetime ECL (credit-
impaired) and full provision was made during the year.

All of loan receivables are pledged by properties owned by the
borrowers as collaterals for both years.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 6.

All loan receivables are denominated in HK$.

FEER (%) BRAR

23.

IR E

2024 2023

—ECmE =
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT BT T

1:}}\—,

12,124 13,000
(1,124) -

11,000 13,000

MN_E_NEAB=+H #MEAHNF

6.0%E10.0% (ZEZ=F : N"F6.0%=
10.0%) ©
AEBRIREFTHEREEEKRER

ZBBEFUEAREREEERRE -E
BEEHERARGER-

RIE_NMER_E-_=%,B=1+H"
FrEEWETEUERAERS Z XK
HEARIR S (R o

REBEEZZNEB=1tHLEE K
EBEWREIHF—EIRFYE > LR E RE
1B FEURAS B2 7B 183,500,0007T © A< 5 B LUK
BFEEEHI2,376,000c HERBAYE-
RUEIRFEYESR ~EBEMBE TRE
BEREGREN,124,000 TR EBUERTT
BHEB T ERENEASREREESE
(EERE MHRENELEEEEE-

PB4 > P A IR E R LUE TR B
EZEBIRERITRR -
B FHEEF B BT EE6

FRAEBWERIGUBESHE

131

TETUFEFER



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S M5 R R M sE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

24. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

As at 30 June 2024, the bank balances and cash of the
Group denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
HK$1,195,000 (2023: HK$1,228,000).

As at 30 June 2024, the bank balances and cash of the Group's
subsidiaries in the PRC denominated in RMB amounted to
approximately HK$626,000 (2023: HK$748,000). Conversion
of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations.

For the years ended 30 June 2024 and 2023, the Group
performed impairment assessment on bank balances and
concluded that the probability of defaults of the counterparty
banks are insignificant, no allowance for ECL is provided for
the years.
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24, SRITEEFERRE

\_;_EE/\H +H > KEBMUA

A BEZRTEERBESHNABE
1,195,0007¢ (ZE =4 : /A1&1,228,000
7T) ©

RIZEZWMNERA=1+H xEERFEH
ZHBREIUARBHEZRITETR
HE 4 AEBE626,000T (CE_=F 8
#6748,0007T) ° AR R IMNEBEZ IR
R AR B 2 S0 BE B IR AR ) R 45 B ~ S BB Re A
EEERE -

BHE_Z_OFERZE_=-F-B=1+
Eiﬁf’ﬁ%@iﬁﬁﬁmﬁi_ THREST
o RAXZHFRITENNAIEMR
1N .Jﬂ:7Fﬁt%ﬁ%ﬁfggﬂmﬁ,ﬁ}ﬂ%%%?ﬁ
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

AR S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

25. BB 5 R E AR

2024 2023
—E-mE _——

HK$'000 HK$'000

FBEFT BEF T

Trade payables NP7 1,677 2,685
Amount due to a substantial shareholder FEft—% F BT Z RN

(note) (H75E) 100 100

Contract liabilities BHRBE 591 657

Accruals and other payables FEST & A R H AR (T AR AR 22,838 20,909

25,206 24,351

Note: The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Accruals and other payables mainly comprised of accrued
staff costs and accrued rental expenses approximately
HK$14,802,000 (2023: HK$14,576,000) and HK$6,179,000
(2023: HK$4,214,000) respectively.

As at 1 July 2022, contract liabilities amounted to
approximately HK$553,000.

Contract liabilities represented advance payments received
from customers for sales of goods pursuant to the respective
sales contracts before the control of the products are passed to
the customers.

The Group classifies these contract liabilities as current because
the Group expects these balances to be settled in its normal
operating cycle which is within 12 months after the end of
the reporting period. Revenue of approximately HK$657,000
(2023: HK$553,000) of the Group were recognised for the
year ended 30 June 2024 that were included in the contract
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period.

Wit . ZRERERT RERAREREE-

s ERAREMENRIESNETEGE
FEStE TR A8 #14,802,0007T (&
=4 B#14,576,00070) REEHES
B A& 156,179,00070 (ZE =4 | B
4,214,0007T) ©

ﬁ/\\—v——ﬁztﬁ E ! Dl\/j \/ﬁé% /j/%
#553,0007T ©

BHERENREREFREERERRA
REEREESOMNHEERARE R HéZ
EBYFR(S IR ©

AEBBZEANABELBEARE BEH
AAEBRRAZEEGRBENAE—KEE
B BIEREHA ,‘\D%?@z@}ﬂ ) 1T o
AEBRZ WAL A 57,0007 (ZE =
I B1553,00070) REE " IUER
B=+HILFEEER Uit ARSHY
ZaNas-.

EEER () ARAR —T-ness | OO



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S M5 R R M sE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

The aging analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice date
or date of receipt of goods, is as follows:

0 - 30 days 0FE30XK
31 - 90 days 31FE90X
91 - 180 days 91& 180K
Over 180 days 180Kk U £

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other payables

are denominated in the following currencies:

HK$ B
RMB AR &
usD E7T
Total 4B EE
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25. FETE 5 REMIRR @)

REZHHNWEBRFZENEZRK

TERER DI T -

2024 2023

—EMF B2 =
HK$’000 HKS$'000
BT T B For
949 1,886
17 =
711 799
1,677 2,685

rEEZERMES REMERRZREE

LI E5HE
2024 2023
—E_mEF S

HK$°000 HK$'000

EETT BT

3,707 4,198

15,336 15,955

6,163 4,198

25,206 24,351




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR 5 R 75 IR R M 5E

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

26. LEASE LIABILITIES 26. HERR
2024 2023
—_E_mE =
HK$°000 HK$'000
ABETFT BT
Within one year — &R 762 2,938
More than one year but less than BiE—FE LR mE
two years - 764
762 3,702
The range of weighted average effective incremental MEETHEREEERFMNENHEEN
borrowing rate were ranging from 4.33% to 17.50% (2023: TF4.33%FE17.50% (ZFEZ=F . N F
from 4.33% to 17.50%). 4.33%%F17.50%) ©
The Group’s lease liabilities are denominated in functional FEBZHEEEENNUSEEER 2D
currency of respective group entities. AEE &S E -

EEER (2K) ARAR —TopEss | O30



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S M5 R R M sE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

27. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

27. EERAEE

Provision for PRC employee
long service severance
payments compensation Total
(note a) (note b)
ROBBRH < TEES
ik RER A {E st
(Hi5ta) (Hiztb)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT T
As at 1 July 2022 N _E-"FtHF—H 475 2,639 3,114
Additional provision NERE - 284 284
Exchange realignment fERAE = (213) (213)
As at 30 June 2023 and RIEZ=F,B=1+Hk
as at 1 July 2023 RN_E_=FtH—H 475 2,710 3,185
Reversal of provision BERE - (15) (15)
Exchange realignment EREE - (16) (16)
As at 30 June 2024 RZZEZNERA=+H 475 2,679 3,154
Notes: Hiet .
(a) Provision for long services payments (a) RBRFEEE

In June 2022, the HKSAR Government enacted the Employment
and Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement)
(Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the "Amendment Ordinance”)
which will be effective from 1 May 2025. Under the Amendment
Ordinance, any accrued benefits attributable to the employer’s
mandatory contributions under mandatory provident fund scheme
("MPF Benefits”) of an entity would no longer be eligible to offset
against its obligations on long service payment (“LSP") for the
portion of the LSP accrued on or after the Transition Date. There is
also a change in the calculation basis of last monthly wages for the
portion of the LSP accrued before 1 May 2025.
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RIZZZFXA BEFIITHRERTF
TE (2022 F BB RIR IRt A G GREH 2 HH)
(5D 156)) (MESTRA) B2 "HF
A —BEEM-REBETHRG BENE
it~ (aEEEE) BT EEN
BE M HRATEENERA RS RERTE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

27. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

PRC employee severance compensation

Pursuant to the PRC Labour Law which became effective on
1 January 2008, the Group is required to pay the severance
compensation to its employees if the employment contract expires
and is not renewed unless the Group has offered the employment
contract on the same terms and conditions but the offer is rejected
by the employee.

Under the Labour Contract Law, the severance compensation is
calculated based on one month’s salary for each year of employment
completed by the employee and is capped at 12 months’ salary or
12 times 300% of the average monthly salary of the previous year at
the place where the employer is located, whichever is lower. At the
end of each reporting period, the Group has made the provision for
severance compensation for the existing employees in the PRC.

28. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised: ERE

27. EERANEE @

HiaE - ()

(b)

PEES R E

REEB_ZENEF-—B-—HEERZTEH
St HERSRERELRESE A
AERANHESX(IBBME AL
ERERGRRFT REEFRSRAMES
FLUERERAIBRI

REFHEEE EREEDREESST
M—FEEE—EAHFHE MLRA
NREAHENEEMEMEFER FHFHE
300% 21218 (UBRIEEBE) - REREH
Ko AEHENTRREEREZBBMEF
B

28. g7

7,000,000,000 ordinary shares of
HK$0.1 each

2,000,000,000 convertible non-voting
preference shares of HK$0.15 each

312,500,000 series B convertible non-
voting preference Shares of HK$0.16
each

7,000,000,0008% & i H &
A0 1Tz BBk

2,000,000,00008 SRS &
7BHE0.1570 2 Pl A%

HER B
312,500,000f &R EE
B 10,1670 ZB& Y Bl H#a %

BKERIBRR

FEER (%)

2024 2023
b o 1112 3 S
HK$’000 HK$°000
AT BT T
700,000 700,000
300,000 300,000
50,000 50,000
1,050,000 1,050,000

BRAT T _UEFR 187



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S M5 R R M sE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

28. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Issued and fully paid:

801,535,615 (2023: 792,745,615)
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each

1,083,333,333 (2023: 1,083,333,333)
convertible non-voting preference
shares of HK$0.15 each

166,693,518 (2023: 182,092,500)
series B convertible non-voting
preference shares of HK$0.16 each

28. &7 (&)

BEITREE :

801,535,615 (& - =
792,745,6155%) S EE
B0 T R

1,083,333,3330 (T =4 :

1,083,333,3330%) GRREE
FBHE0.1577 2 AI A g
ERERBILR

166,693,518/ (ZE - =
182,092,5000%) SRS EE
BH50.1675 ZBR 5 B[S

B EREBAR
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2024 2023
“EmE —EI=
HK$°000 HK$°000
EETT BT
80,154 79,275
162,500 162,500
26,671 29,135
269,325 270,910




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR 5 R 75 IR R M 5E

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

28. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 28. &7 (&)
A summary of the movements in the authorised and issued RBABRBE_R_MNERZBI=F
share capital of the Company during the years ended 30 June B=+tHIFERZIZEREETREZ
2024 and 2023 is as follow: SEPEWT
Number of
Number of series B
convertible convertible
Number of non-voting non-voting
ordinary preference preference
shares shares shares Amount
BRI
AhRERE BRZHE
LERYA EEEREE BEREE &8
Note 000 000 000 HK$000
izt & & & BB
Authorised: ERE -
Asat 1 July 2022, as at 30 June 2023, S o = = B
asat 1July 2023 and RIBZ=%,B=1+8"
as at 30 June 2024 RIBZ=FtE-Hk
RZE-MFERE=+H 7,000,000 2,000,000 312,500 1,050,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRER
Asat1July2022,asat30June 2023and  RZEZZELA—H>
asat 1July 2023 RIBZ=%7B=1+Bk
RZE_=FEtA-AH 792,745 1,083,333 182,093 270,910
Conversion of series B convertible BRBAT| AR
non-voting preference shares BRERERR @ 8,790 5 (15399) (1,585)
As at 30 June 2024 RZEZMEXB=1H 801,535 1,083,333 166,694 269,325
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S M 5 IR M5

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

28.

29.
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SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
Note:

(@  On 5 October 2023, a total of 8,790,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1
each were issued as a result of the conversion of 15,398,982 series
B convertible non-voting preference shares of HK$0.16 each.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in
order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to
reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated
as net debt divided by total equity. Net debts is calculated as
total liabilities (including current and non-current liabilities as
shown in the consolidated statement of financial position) less
bank balances and cash. Total equity represents the equity as
shown in the consolidated statement of financial position.

28.

29.

ARz (#)
Hifst -

(@) MIEBEZ=F+HPAH> H#HM15398,982
REREEHSE0.16TRBR I AR ER
RRERKRMEITEHS, 790,000 5 KRE
BEHEB0ITAEEA-

BEAXEERERE

FEBEEEAZENARELAEERR
BICEZEE UARRIERERRBHE
thIFMPER N > WERREERRE
LURR & A Y 2 o

PHERFHABEERRE AEE]BBH
RENTFTRRZREER REEFTR
R BHITHRONEEBEELURN VAR -

HBEANEMQT - AEEREEAR
EEREERE A o LI DUE P RA R A
MBSt E - B P U A ERER (81
BUBRRKRARZRABRIFRBE
B) MR THEFERREE - HmiBiE
e MBI R R 2 i o

o 3F B

y

I3



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

29. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

The gearing ratios as at 30 June 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

Total debts
Less: bank balances and cash

Net debts

Total equity

Gearing ratio

(EEEEEEE
W IRTEERRES

(BT L]

The only external imposed capital requirement is that for the

Group to maintain its listing on GEM of the Stock Exchange

has to have a public float of at least 25% of the shares.

The Group received a report from the share registrars on

substantial share interests showing the non-public float and

it demonstrated continuing compliance with the 25% limit

throughout the year.

29. BEXRAMEIR &

RTEMEKR_FT_=F/H=1+H

TAEBMELENT
2024 2023
—E-mE e
HK$°000 HK$°000
BT BT
29,600 31,716
(17,038) (13,239)
12,562 18,477
31,227 32,783
40% 56%

REBEFERBRZFAGEMZ Ll
2N RFIBEARER ERMNZA
BRIEREEDAR2% AEBBERNE
CEREEE—MEBETEARFEREZAR
FTERMDER RS HERARERRE
BEEAN—EHET25%RE

FEER (%) BRAR —T_UEER /I 4/'



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S M5 R R M sE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

30. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position of the Company (a)
Non-current asset ERHEE
Investments in subsidiaries RBATZERE
Current assets MENEE
Prepayment, deposits and AR ZER
other receivables Hh AR
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE UL B8 A B 718
Bank balances and cash RITEEFNRIES
Total current assets RENEELEEE
Current liabilities RENAE
Accruals and other payables FEST & F A E A FE T BRFR
Amounts due to subsidiaries FETI B AR 7 IE
Total current liabilities mENE GRS
Net current assets TMENEERE
NET ASSETS BEFE
Capital and reserves BE s e ek 1
Share capital (&N
Reserves ]
TOTAL EQUITY R

Signed on its behalf by:

Chan Hiu Kwan

BRBZ TS

Executive Director

HITEF

30. ZATZHBIKR R fHiBEE

Lau Chun Fat, George
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23
Executive Director

HITEF

AT ZHBERAR
2024 2023
—EE “ET=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BIEFT BT T
10 10
138 288
24,538 16,140
986 1,315
25,662 17,743
1,332 1,728
16,598 4,883
17,930 6,611
7,732 11,132
7,742 11,142
269,325 270,910
(261,583) (259,768)
7,742 11,142
BHTIEEREREE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE

= A,
RS

B 75 3R 3R B 5E

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(b) Reserve movement of the Company

Asat 1 July 2022

Loss and total comprehensive
expense for the year

As at 30 June 2023 and
as at 1 July 2023

Loss and total comprehensive
expense for the year

Conversion of series B convertible
non-voting preference shares

As at 30 June 2024

RZB-"&#+tA—H

FRBEEREEAXEE

\—v——ﬂi/\ﬁ +E|EZ

R_E_=FtH—H

ERNEEREERXBE

BIBRIIAIHAR
BRIEELR

RZEZNERB=1+A

30. ZABZHBRRRREREE (@)

(b) TATZHEEES

Capital

Share  redemption Accumulated Total
premium reserve losses equity
RIDEE BFXREGHE 25tEiR DB
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
BT BETT BETT BT
705,729 150 (959,223) (253,344)
- - (6,424) (6,424)
705,729 150 (965,647) (259,768)
- - (3,400) (3,400)

1,585 - - 1,585
707,314 150 (969,047) (261,583)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S M 5 IR M5

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

31. RESERVES

0]

(ii)

(iii)

/| 44 Luxey International (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2024

Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
funds in the share premium account of the Company
are distributable to the shareholders of the Company
provided that immediately following the date on which
the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company
will be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in
the ordinary course of business.

Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with
the material accounting policy set out in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Capital redemption reserve
Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value

of the shares repurchased which was paid out of the
distributable reserves of the Company.

(i)

(if)

(iii)

31. (%

Ie{n i@ ER

REREHERENE XAT KM
BRZEZIDIRTFTRABREE
KRR EBHRR > XATREE
BEENBAEXEBPIRZEF -

B

ERREEEERREBIIEBYBR
RFTEEZFIBERELR ZHEBR
RiZSH BRI FIARII ZERSG
STEURERIE

BEXBEOHE

EXxBLOEEIEAXTRE N DIk
Bt ZFrElfEkRm ZEE-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Equity-settled share option scheme

On 28 November 2017, the Company terminated the share
option scheme adopted by the Company on 18 March 2008
and the rules of the new share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
be approved as the new share option scheme.

The Company operates the Scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible
participants include the full-time and part-time employees,
executives, officers, directors, business consultants, suppliers,
customers, legal and financial advisers of the Company and
the Company’s subsidiaries. The Scheme became effective
on 28 November 2017 and, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount
equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time. The maximum number of shares
issuable under share options to each eligible participant in
the Scheme within any 12-month period, is limited to 1% of
the shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any further
grant of shares options in excess of this limit is subject to
shareholder’s approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive officer
or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their associates, are subject to approval in advance by
the independent non-executive directors. In addition, any
share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director, or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company
in issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based on
the price of the Company’s shares at the date of the grant)
in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are
subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general
meeting.

32. LURRIR B EREZ IR

Mg H 2 Bk tEst &

KRBR _E—tHF+—BZ+/\H#K
ERZEENF=ZB+/N\HEANER
rEETE MR8 (L2811 2R
BB EHER B ES 8-

TRBDEBZ B UBRT RER R/ ESE
EEEZMNFHEMZ G ER2EE-
Aé%,“%@%K@T&Z&“TBﬁF
AAZEBKREREE THRAE

AE\%%\%%EEF‘:E\T%E’%%\%)EVK
BRMBER - Zt 8RN -t F+—
R+ NBEXM BRIESTTLUEHETE
5 BRI BE+FERE

RiFzctg) BEEERTZRITERER
BZRZHEABEER —KT6E AR F
AR R B S 1TIRD 210% © B 1EA
+ZEA BB RIEERET &2
NEBLEERSHEBET 2R RME
EE@F$@TFEH%@E%%%W
Z1%  E—FTERTFTEMBBILRE R
k%éﬁﬂkﬁﬁk%kAtﬁﬁo

RFARBZEE - THAZHFIERSR
FWEZRABHEA T ZERRE BFEL
EEEIIIERITEE#IE LS FE AT
%I;Hy%%ﬁi#ﬁt"%%w&ﬂ—cz
Eﬁﬁyp%%Aizﬁ%ﬁﬂ%ﬁéﬁﬁwL_mﬁ
HERZ  BBAATREAREER
BRIDZ0.1%H4EE URTE Elx’&wy
HERAEE) B@B 15,000,000t ¥
BESLBHRENIREASZ LHL#Eo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S M 5 IR M5

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

32.

33.
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
28 days from the date of the offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise
period of the share options granted is determinable by the
directors, and commences after a certain vesting period and
ends on a date which is not later than five years from the
date of the offer of the share options or the expiry date of the
Scheme, if earlier.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by
the directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i) the
Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on the
date of the offer of the share options; (i) the average Stock
Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer; and
(iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares on the date of
the offer.

Share options do not confer rights on the holder to dividends
or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

No share options were granted, forfeited, exercised or expired
under the Scheme during the year (2023: Nil).

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows
as cash flows from financing activities.

32.

33.

MURn BB Z R @)

s S B 2 BIRES R (&

A AR R L BHE28 R RE
XNRBEHEBE 1T UEAETERE
ZEN -BERBREZOTEHHESE
TE > W FER B AR R e R S B RR B
BREZNAMESIFEZABANZ
StEIEIHE UREEREE) ER-

BREZTHEEREFEE  EREER
UTz&BE ()VAERBRMIRELDER
BELHBIEBZWEE (i) AF
RONEFRHEENVBBIILERZH
RSP 2 FIWHE ; K(iE 2B k7D
PRIRHENHZEE

BRETARFHEAZTAERERER
RARE LIREAVER -

FAMERRERBEZFIERD R
W ITEsEm (CE=F 1) o

MEESBFEERRZHER

TERFINAEERETHMELERRZ
25 (BRRENFRTEH) -HEEY
FREEZEBRIEEREREEHRKIR
ERERNEAERGERERERTD
BoRmELPRERBZAR-



33. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES (Continued)

As at 1 July 2022

Financing cash flows

Non-cash changes:

Transfer to accruals and
other payables

New lease entered

Finance costs recognised
(note 10)

Exchange realignment

As at 30 June 2023
and as at 1 July 2023
Financing cash flows
Non-cash changes:
Transfer to accruals and
other payables
Finance costs recognised
(note 10)
Exchange realignment

As at 30 June 2024

A =l =
MERERE
FREEE
BREREBRAREM
FEATER™

#MeIHE

B BHAE WaE10)

BE S0

RZE_=F, A=tk
R_E_=FtH—H
MERERE

RS EEF
R B R EM
FE{TERFR
BB B (HE10)

EERREE

RZE_MFEXRA=+H

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

33. MEESFMEERRZHR @

Interest Lease
payables liabilities Total
FERFIS HE&R fast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
BT T BT T BT T
- 5,850 5,850
(53) (1,474) (1,527)
= (1,962) (1,962)
- 613 613
53 537 590
- 138 138
- 3,702 3,702
- (1,202) (1,202)
S (1,965) (1,965)
- 233 233
= (6) (6)
- 762 762
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S M5 R R M sE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

34. PENDING LITIGATION

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the
following pending litigation:

(@ On 19 January 2004, a winding up petition was filed
against the Company by certain ex-senior employees
of the Group claiming for payment in the sum of
approximately HK$594,000 from the Company in respect
of an award/order dated 20 October 2003 granted by
the Labour Tribunal in respect of the severance and
bonus dispute between the Company and the ex-senior
employees. The unsettled amounts of approximately
HK$594,000 were fully accrued in trade and other
payables during the year ended 30 June 2005 and remain
outstanding as at 30 June 2024 and 2023 even though
the case had ceased to be active since the year ended 30
June 2005.

(b) On 24 July 2018, Ratio, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, received a claim from a former director
of Ratio for a total sum of approximately HK$813,000
in respect of the salary and severance dispute between
Ratio and the former director. The Company considered
that she was not entitled to the said sum for the major
reasons that her employment was terminated because
of her misconducts and the termination payment made
by Ratio to her was more than sufficient. The Company
also commenced the action in the High Court against her
for, inter alia, breach of fiduciary duties and contractual
duties owed by her to Ratio. The Group seeks an order for
damages and/or account of profit against her, which are
subject to assessment.
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34. RREFER

PRERE AR AEBZ AR -

(b)

N_ZEZEMF—B+hB xEBE
FrishBERHHEB AR ZAE
BEF NFEEIEN__TZT=F
+EZ+HMEARABEZER &R
HEBZEMEBERIEAMUGIELRZ
BRAAS BERRBREZNLNE
#5594,0007T > ZE R B ERELN B
#594,000cEREEZZEZTHF N
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REMEBERAF > MR ZEZMNFERT
= __5515/\5 ‘f’EHTﬁ;E/ﬁn & 11:‘%%
ZEHEBEE_ZEZAFA=T1
BEFERESFAHER-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% —F YN =+ HIFFEEZE

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 35. AEALRS

(@) The Group had the following transactions with its related
parties during the year:

Interest expense on loan from REEFTERRENRZ
substantial shareholder (note) MERZ (B

Note: A substantial shareholder, Wide Select Investments Limited
("Wide Select”), hold certain percentage of the Company
issued share capital.

@) ZEERFREEBEALZRS

mr:

2024 2023
—TmE ==

HK$°000 HK$'000

BT BT

- 53

Mzt -

FTEREWide Select Investments
Limited ("'Wide Select ) IFEZETE D
LEARAR B EITRAS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S M5 R R M sE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% — & —PUFENNH =+ HIFFZE

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group, including the executive directors was as follows:

Salaries and allowances Ei e
Discretionary bonuses FIBTEAL
Retirement benefit schemes RIREF]HE R

contributions

The remuneration of the directors and key management
personnel is determined by the remuneration committee
having regard to the performance of individuals and
market trends.

36. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into the following major non-cash
investing activities which are not reflected in the consolidated
statement of cash flows:

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group entered into
a new lease agreement for the use of 2 years. On the lease
commencement, the Group recognised right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities of HK$613,000 and HK$613,000 respectively.
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35.

36.

REALRS &

() ZEETEEEAS (BRERITES)
BUFRBNSOT -

2024 2023

—E_F —E”=

HK$°000 HK$°000

AT BT T

1,236 1,218

926 476

18 18

2,180 1,712

EShTEEEABZMET B

MZEGEZRBEARERTSE

DREE -

FEIFRERS

FEBETUTIERNGEERERER

R EZIFREREED !

BEZZE-_FAA=THILFE &X&E
Bl —BERAERAMENTHAER
EoNTEERBE AEBDREREA
HEENREBESEAEN613,0007T KA

613,0007T °



The following is a summary of the published results and of the
assets and liabilities of the Group prepared on the basis set out in  EEUREEREBEZHENT :

the note below:

RESULT
Revenue

Loss before tax
Income tax credit

Loss for the year

Attributable to:

Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

RiRAIER
FisiiEs

FEBRR

THIALRELR

/NI TSN
FERED

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
AFEMBHE

BTYNEmSZBEEMRRAERCSTIH

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
“ECME| “E-=F CBIZf —ET-H C—BIEBE
HKS'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
BEFT BT BT BEFT BEFT
58,541 71,914 57,805 71,207 77,809
(1,246) (1,663) (15,596) (5,987) (34,070)
(17) (18) = = 122
(1,263) (1,681) (15,596) (5,987) (33,948)
(1,196) (1,482) (15,256) (5,170) (25,673)
(67) (199) (340) (817) (8,275)
(1,263) (1,681) (15,596) (5,987) (33,948)
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

AEMBHRE

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERAR

Non-current assets FRBEE
Current assets RBEE
Non-current liabilities FRBasd
Current liabilities nEaR
Net assets BEFE

Equity attributable to owners of ~ KABBEA AEILER
the Company

Non-controlling interests R

Total equity R

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
“EME | CE-=F T -F B TEBEIEF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFT BT BT T BT T BT
1,609 3,379 3,469 4,932 7,490
59,218 61,120 61,878 75,802 140,513
= (764) (3,221) (5,879) (8,051)
(29,600) (30,952) (29,086) (26,446) (94,368)
31,227 32,783 33,040 48,409 45,584
51,207 52,696 52,754 67,783 64,141
(19,980) (19,913) (19,714) (19,374) (18,557)
31,227 32,783 33,040 48,409 45,584
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